
- 1 - 

 

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

MEETING OF THE ELECTORAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 

 

FRIDAY 22ND NOVEMBER 2024 

AT 6.00 P.M. 

 

COMMITTEE ROOM 2 - PARKSIDE 

 

MEMBERS: Councillors E. M. S. Gray (Chairman), S. Ammar, S. J. Baxter, 

S. R. Colella, K.J. May, S. T. Nock and J. Robinson 

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Nomination of Vice Chairman for the 2024/25 Municipal Year  
 

2. To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes  
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 
To invite Councillors to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other 
Disclosable Interests they may have in items on the agenda, and to confirm 
the nature of those interests. 
 

4. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Electoral 
Matters Committee held on 3rd June 2024 (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

5. Polling District changes as a result of the review of Worcestershire 
County Divisions by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England (Pages 9 - 16) 
 

.           Public Document Pack           .



- 2 - 

6. Local Government Boundary Commission for England Boundary Review 
for Bromsgrove - Warding Pattern Proposals (Pages 17 - 110) 
 

7. To consider any urgent business, details of which have been notified to 
the Assistant Director of Legal, Democratic and Property Services prior 
to the commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman considers 
to be of so urgent a nature that it cannot wait until the next meeting  
 
 

 

Sue Hanley 

Chief Executive  

Parkside 

Market Street 

BROMSGROVE 

Worcestershire 

B61 8DA 

 

13th November 2024 

 



- 3 - 

 

 

If you have any queries on this Agenda please contact  

Jess Bayley-Hill 

 

Parkside, Market Street, Bromsgrove, B61 8DA 

Tel: (01527) 64252 Ext: 3072 

Email: jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk  

  

 

GUIDANCE ON FACE-TO-FACE 

MEETINGS 
 

Please note that this is a public meeting. 

If you have any questions regarding the agenda or attached papers, 

please do not hesitate to contact the officer named above. 

GUIDANCE FOR ELECTED MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

ATTENDING MEETINGS IN PERSON 

 

Meeting attendees and members of the public are encouraged not to attend a 

meeting if they have if they have common cold symptoms or any of the 

following common symptoms of Covid-19 on the day of the meeting; a high 

temperature, a new and continuous cough or a loss of smell and / or taste. 

 

Notes:  

Although this is a public meeting, there are circumstances when Council 

might have to move into closed session to consider exempt or 

confidential information.  For agenda items that are exempt, the public 

are excluded.

mailto:jess.bayley-hill@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk


- 4 - 

 

 

 

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC 
 

Access to Information  
 

The Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 widened the rights of 

press and public to attend Local Authority meetings and to see certain 

documents.  Recently the Freedom of Information Act 2000 has further 

broadened these rights, and limited exemptions under the 1985 Act. 

 

 You can inspect agenda and public reports at least five days before 

the date of the meeting. 

 You can inspect minutes of the Council, Cabinet and its 

Committees/Boards for up to six years following a meeting. 

 You can have access, upon request, to the background papers on 

which reports are based for a period of up to six years from the date 

of the meeting.  These are listed at the end of each report. 

 An electronic register stating the names and addresses and 

electoral areas of all Councillors with details of the membership of 

all Committees etc. is available on our website. 

 A reasonable number of copies of agendas and reports relating to 

items to be considered in public will be made available to the public 

attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet and its 

Committees/Boards. 

 You have access to a list specifying those powers which the Council 

has delegated to its Officers indicating also the titles of the Officers 

concerned, as detailed in the Council’s Constitution, Scheme of 

Delegation. 

 

You can access the following documents: 

 

 Meeting Agendas 

 Meeting Minutes 

 The Council’s Constitution 

 

at  www.bromsgrove.gov.uk 

 

http://www.bromsgrove.gov.uk/


Electoral Matters Committee 
3rd June 2024 

1 
 

B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 
 

MEETING OF THE ELECTORAL MATTERS COMMITTEE 
 

3RD JUNE 2024, AT 6.00 P.M. 
 

PRESENT: Councillors S. R. Colella, E. M. S. Gray, K.J. May, S. T. Nock, 
S. R. Peters and J. Robinson. 

  

 Officers:  Mr D. Whitney and Ms M. Bassett. 

 
1/24   ELECTION OF A CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2024/25 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 
Councillor Nock proposed, Councillor K. May seconded and it was  
 
RESOLVED that 
 
Councillor E.M.S. Gray be elected Chairman of the Committee for the 
2024/25 Municipal Year. 
 

2/24   ELECTION OF A VICE CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2024/25 MUNICIPAL 
YEAR 
 
It was agreed to defer this item until the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
The election of the Vice-Chairman of the Committee be deferred until the 
next meeting of the Committee. 
 

3/24   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 
SUBSTITUTES 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

4/24   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5/24   TO CONFIRM THE ACCURACY OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE ELECTORAL MATTERS COMMITTEE HELD ON 23RD 
FEBRUARY 2024 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23rd February 2024 were submitted 
for Members’ consideration. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Electoral Matters Committee 
3rd June 2024 

2 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23rd February 
2024 be approved as a correct record. 
 

6/24   LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND 
BOUNDARY REVIEW FOR BROMSGROVE - WARDING PATTERNS 
 
Members considered a report providing details of the review of electoral 
boundaries in the District being conducted by the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE). 
 
The LGBCE had recommended that the Council size remain at 31 
Councillors.  The next stage of the review was to propose the electoral 
ward boundaries and it was suggested that the Council make a 
submission to the consultation.  Officers pointed out that if the Council 
decided not to make a submission, then Councillors would not be able to 
input into the review other than as individuals. 
 
Changes were required as seven of the current electoral wards varied 
from the average number of electors in District wards in 2030 by more 
than plus or minus 10%.  Officers explained data used in arriving at the 
forecast figures.  In response to a query from a member, the Senior 
Electoral Services Officer reported that the wards were: 
 
Alvechurch Village – minus 11% 
Avoncroft – plus 21% 
Catshill North – minus 15% 
Catshill South – minus 12% 
Hagley West – plus 17.55% 
Lickey Hills – minus 10.96% 
Perryfields – plus 45%. 
 
Proposals for ward patterns could be made to the LGBCE between 24 
July and 30 September.  The LGBCE had confirmed it would be 
prepared to receive a draft submission by the closing date if the Council 
was not able to confirm its response until the Council meeting in 
October.  Members queried whether the LGBCE would be prepared to 
do this if a major change to the submission was agreed by the Council at 
that meeting.   
 
Officers had proposed that a Working Group be set up to carry out the 
review as that would enable agile working and flexible attendance.  It 
would report to the Committee with proposals and the Committee would 
then present recommendations to Council for consideration as 
appropriate. 
 
During consideration of this item, Members expressed concern at the 
demands on members because of the timescale for the Working Group, 
which was due to begin its work in July and finish during September.  As 
a General Election had been called, members suggested that the 
LGBCE could be asked to amend their timetable to take account of that.  
However, it was noted that any delay in the process would probably 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



Electoral Matters Committee 
3rd June 2024 

3 
 

impact on the overall timetable and risk curtailing the time available for 
implementing the final changes.   
 
In terms of process, it was clarified that the consultation referred to in the 
report would be carried out by the LGBCE.  It was intended that the 
proposed Working Group would prepare a draft submission which the 
Council as a whole could consider and amend or endorse.  It would look 
in detail at the wards where a variance from the average number of 
electors in 2030 of 10% was forecast.  Officers suggested that each 
meeting of the Group would be invited to look specifically at a few wards, 
which would enable ward members to attend and contribute their local 
knowledge to the discussion.  Officers would use mapping software to 
support the discussion at Working Group meetings. 
 
Members discussed the proposed size and composition of the Working 
Group, aiming to keep the involvement of Electoral Matters Committee 
members whilst ensuring it was not too large.  It was agreed that the 
members of the Committee would be the members of the Working 
Group.   
 
To maximise the time available for the review, it was suggested that the 
Committee should set the parameters for the Working Group at this 
meeting rather than leave this for consideration at its first meeting.  
However, Officers offered to produce a scoping document for the first 
meeting of the Working Group for members’ consideration and this was 
agreed. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 

1) A Working Group be set up to consider ward patterning for the 
Bromsgrove Electoral Review by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England which will report back to this Committee; 
  

2) The membership of the Working Group comprises the members 
of the Electoral Matters Committee, and 
 

3) Officers produce a Scoping Document for consideration at the 
first meeting of the Working Group. 

 
7/24   COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - FINSTALL PARISH 

 
Members considered a report setting out the proposed terms of 
reference and timetable for a Community Governance Review, 
requested by Finstall Parish Council. 
 
In response to a question, the Electoral Services Manager reported that 
appropriate local ward members had been informed of the request, but 
he had not received any feedback from them.  The Committee noted that 
there had been some technical issues for one of the members involved, 
and it was suggested that in order to ensure the local members had 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



Electoral Matters Committee 
3rd June 2024 

4 
 

every opportunity to contribute to the discussion, the decision should be 
deferred.   
 
The Electoral Services Manager added that the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England had recommended that if the 
Community Governance Review had not yet started, it should be 
postponed until after the ward boundaries review to avoid concurrent 
boundary considerations.  The Committee therefore agreed that this item 
should be deferred. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
Consideration of the Community Governance Review for Finstall Parish 
be deferred until after the completion of the review of District ward 
boundaries. 
 

8/24   TO CONSIDER ANY URGENT BUSINESS, DETAILS OF WHICH HAVE 
BEEN NOTIFIED TO THE HEAD OF LEGAL, DEMOCRATIC AND 
PROPERTY SERVICES PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE 
MEETING AND WHICH THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE OF SO 
URGENT A NATURE THAT IT CANNOT WAIT UNTIL THE NEXT 
MEETING 
 
There was no urgent business on this occasion. 
 

The meeting closed at 7.00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee            22 November 

2024
  
 
Polling District changes as a result of the review of Worcestershire 
County Divisions by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England  
  
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor May, Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Partnerships 
and Enabling 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton 

Report Author Job Title: Darren Whitney, Electoral Services 
Manager 
Contact email:  
darren.whitney@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 01527 881650 

Wards Affected N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) consulted  

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) N/A 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 
1. RESOLUTIONS 

 
1.1 that the proposals in respect of polling districts, as contained in 

the report (as amended), be approved; and  
 
1.2 that the decisions of the Committee in respect of 1.1 above take 

effect from the publication of the revised Register of Electors. 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The report highlights where changes could be made to polling districts 

due to the final recommendations of the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England’s (LGBCE) review for Worcestershire County 
Council Divisions. 

 
2.1  They are brought to the Committee at this time as they need to be 

reflected in the revised electoral register which will be published on 1 
December. 

 
 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
3.1 No direct costs from this report. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee            22 November 

2024
  
 
   
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The LGBCE is a statutory body accountable to Parliament that 

conducts reviews of local authority electoral arrangements in England. 
Its statutory obligations are set out in the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
4.2 Authority to set polling district boundaries and to designate polling  

places rests with the Council (Statutory elements of the Council’s  
Constitution under the Local Government Act 2000). Redditch Borough 
Council has delegated full relevant powers to this Electoral  
Matters Committee. 

 
4.3 Decisions about the situation of polling stations within designated  

polling places are for the (Acting) Returning Officer. Arrangements  
must comply with relevant provisions of the Representation of the  
People Acts and Regulations and the Equality Act 2010. 
 

5. STRATEGIC PURPOSES - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose  
 
5.1 This report deals with statutory functions but relates to the strategic 

purpose of an effective and sustainable council. 
 

Climate Change Implications 
 
5.2 It is preferable that choice of boundaries can help minimise 

unnecessary additional journeys by motorised vehicles. 
 
5.3 Emissions and carbon footprint should be reduced as far as possible. 
 
6. OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 None for this report. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 
6.2 The LGBCE published the Final Recommendations for the new 

electoral county divisions in Worcestershire on 9 July 2024 and a draft 
order was laid before Parliament on 11 September 2024. 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee            22 November 

2024
  
 
6.3 Details of the review can be found on the LGBCE website:. 

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/worcestershire 
 
6.4 For the Bromsgrove District area the LGBCE recommended nine 

divisions, all of which will have one member. 
 
6.5 Due to the divisional boundary changes some of the polling districts 

have become redundant as district ward and county division are no 
longer different. 

 
6.6 When reviewing the following it should be noted polling district names 

and the polling districts themselves are for administrative purposes 
only.  

 
6.7 The convention used in Bromsgrove in naming polling district letters is 

to have the first two letters as an indication of the district ward then a 
third letter signifying the polling district within the ward starting from A 
and ascending alphabetically. 

 
6.8 The summary of changes is included in appendix 1. 
 
6.9 Bromsgrove Central Division 
 

a) Polling district LWB – Lowes Hill (531 electors) is moving from 
Bromsgrove West division to Bromsgrove Central division. It is 
proposed to combine this with polling district LWC – Shenstone 
(462 electors) as both polling districts vote at All Saints Church Hall. 

 
This will give an electorate of 993 which is well under the maximum 
2,250 electors that the Electoral Commission’s guidance gives for 
the number of electors attending a polling station. 

 
Logically it makes sense to keep the new polling district name as 
LWB – Lowes Hill and that polling district name LWC – Shenstone 
goes. 

 
 

b) Polling districts NTB – Crows Mill (9 electors) and NTD – Norton 
East (4 electors) are moving from Bromsgrove East division to 
Bromsgrove Central division. It is proposed to combine these with 
polling district NTA – Norton North (1,302 electors). 
 
Electors for NTB and NTD currently vote The Wheel, St Catherine's 
Church for County Council elections but at Lickey End Social Club 
for all other elections. As electors from NTA vote at Lickey Social 
Club it is thought best to keep this as the polling station. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/worcestershire


BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee            22 November 

2024
  
 

 
The new polling district would be 1,315 electors retaining the name 
NTA – Norton North. As the current polling districts of NTB and 
NTD would be redundant it is proposed to change the polling 
district name of NTC – Norton South to NTB – Norton South so the 
polling district letters run consecutively. 

 
 
6.9 Woodvale Division 
 
 Polling district MAC - Lydiate Ash (86 electors) is moving from Beacon 

division to Woodvale division. It is proposed to combine this with 
polling district MAD - Staple Hill (825 electors) as both polling districts 
vote at St Luke’s Church Centre.  

 
 Polling districts MAA and MAB also vote at St Luke’s Church Centre 

but relate to parish wards so cannot be combined as a polling district. 
 

This will give an electorate of 911 which is under the maximum the 
Electoral Commissions guidance for number of electors attending a 
polling station. 
 
It also makes sense to have the new polling district letters as MAC and 
make MAD redundant. Officers are suggesting keeping the Lydiate Ash 
name but the Committee may wish to change this.    

  
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1 Polling district changes need to be agreed so that the revised register 

can produced on 1 December. Any delay will mean that the register will 
need to be republished causing extra cost and administrative time.  

 
8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Appendix 1 – Summary of proposed polling district changes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee            22 November 

2024
  
 

 
 
 
 
 

9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

 
Department 
 

 
Name and Job Title 

 
Date 
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

  

 
Head of Service 
 

Claire Felton 
Assistant Director Legal, 
Democratic and Property 
Services 

11 November 
2024 

 
Financial Services 
 

Pete Carpenter 
Director of Resources/Deputy 
Chief Executive 

4 November 
2024 

 
Legal Services 
 

  

  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Polling 

District 

Code

District 

Ward

Polling 

District

Polling 

Station

Parish 

Ward

Current 

County 

Division

New 

County 

Division

Notes 

LWA Lowes Hill
Barnsley 

Hall

Changing 

Rooms, 

Barnsley 

Hall Road

Bromsgrove 

Central

Bromsgrove 

Central 

LWB Lowes Hill Lowes Hill
All Saints 

Church Hall

Bromsgrove 

West

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Combine 

with LWC

LWC Lowes Hill Shenstone
All Saints 

Church Hall

Bromsgrove 

Central

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Combine 

with LWB 

and delete

NTA Norton
Norton 

North

Lickey End 

Social Club

Bromsgrove 

Central

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Combine 

with NTA, 

NTD - call 

Norton 

NTB Norton Crows Mill
Lickey End 

Social Club

Bromsgrove 

East

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Combine 

NTA, NTD 

and delete

NTC Norton 
Norton 

South

All Saints 

Church Hall
`

Bromsgrove 

Central

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Becomes 

NTB 

NTD Norton
Norton 

East

Lickey End 

Social Club

Bromsgrove 

East

Bromsgrove 

Central 

Combine 

NTA, NTD 

and delete

MAA Marlbrook
Lower 

Marlbrook

St Luke's 

Church 

Centre

Catshill & 

North 

Marlbrook 

(Lower 

Marlbrook 

Ward) 

Woodvale Woodvale

MAB Marlbrook
Lickey 

Grange

St Luke's 

Church 

Centre

Lickey & 

Blackwell 

(Lickey 

Grange 

Ward)

Woodvale Woodvale

MAC Marlbrook
Lydiate 

Ash

St Luke's 

Church 

Centre

Beacon Woodvale
Combine 

MAD

MAD Marlbrook Staple Hill

St Luke's 

Church 

Centre

Woodvale Woodvale 

Combine 

MAC and 

delete

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee 22 November 
2024
  
 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England Boundary Review 
for Bromsgrove – Warding Pattern Proposals 
 

Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor May, Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Partnerships and 
Enabling 

Portfolio Holder Consulted  Yes 

Relevant Head of Service Claire Felton 

Report Author Job Title: Electoral Services Manager, Darren 
Whitney 
Contact email:  
darren.whitney@bromsgroveandredditch.gov.uk 
Contact Tel: 01527 881650 

Wards Affected All  

Ward Councillor(s) consulted Not Applicable 

Relevant Strategic Purpose(s) All 

Non-Key Decision 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact the report author in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 The Electoral Matters Committee RECOMMEND that:-  

 
1) Council endorse the Council Warding Pattern submission 

including any amendments made. 
2) Council delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation 

with Group Leaders to produce and submit the formal submission 
document to the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England.  
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) 

last reviewed Bromsgrove in 2012/13 and the order was made in 2014. 
 
2.2 Each year, the LGBCE calculates the level of electoral inequality 

arising in each local authority area to establish whether there is a need 
for an electoral review.  

 

Under the criteria adopted by the LGBCE, either of the following 
conditions are considered to warrant a review if the imbalance is 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee 22 November 
2024
  
 

unlikely to be corrected by foreseeable changes to the electorate within 
a reasonable period:  
 

 Any local authority with an electoral division or ward that has an 
electoral variance of 30% or over. This means a ward having 
30% more or fewer electors per councillor than is average for 
the council as a whole. 

 Any local authority where more than 30% of wards have an 
electoral variance of over 10% from the average for that 
authority. 

 
Based on electoral data, in the Bromsgrove District Area:  

 Eight of the 30 (27%) electoral wards have a variance of greater 
than 10% 

 One of the electoral wards has a variance of over 30% 
 

 Accordingly, the LGBCE decided to commence a review of the 
Bromsgrove District Council area. 

 
3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS   
  
3.1 None at this stage other than officer time, the cost of the review is borne 

by the LGBCE.  
   
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The LGBCE is a statutory body accountable to Parliament that conducts 

reviews of local authority electoral arrangements in England. Its statutory 
obligations are set out in the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009. 

 
4.2 One of the objectives of the LGBCE is to provide electoral arrangements 

for English principal local authorities that are fair and deliver electoral 
equality for voters. 

 
 
5. STRATEGIC PURPOSES - IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Relevant Strategic Purpose  
 
5.1 As the review will affect the number of Councillors in the future it will 

have a bearing on all Strategic Purposes. The results of the review will 
not be implemented until 2027. 
 

6. OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee 22 November 
2024
  
 
 
 Equalities and Diversity Implications 
 
6.1 No direct impact at this stage. 
 
 Operational Implications 
 
6.2 The LGBCE will seek to deliver electoral equality for voters in local 

elections. 
 
6.3 The electoral review examines and proposes new electoral 

arrangements for the whole local authority. These are: 
 

 The total number of councillors to be elected to the council: 
council size. 

 The names, number and boundaries of wards. 

 The number of councillors to be elected from each ward. 
 

6.4 The LGBCE is minded to recommend 31 councillors for the Council; this 
is in line with the council size submission approved by Council on 24 
January 2023. 

 
6.5 The Commission will recommend a ward proposal that, in its judgement, 

enables the council to take its decisions effectively, to discharge the 
business and responsibilities of the council successfully, and to provide 
for effective community leadership and representation. 

 
6.6 The draft Council Ward Pattern proposal was drawn up by officers with 

input from individual members and reviewed and agreed by the member 
led BDC Ward Patterning Working Group. Once agreed by this 
Committee it will be sent to Council for endorsement. 

 
6.7 As the consultation period closes before the next Council meeting the 

LGBCE have agreed to accept a late final submission as long as the 
agreed draft submission is submitted before the closing date. 

 
6.8 Proposals can be made by any interested party, elected member, 

political group or political party to the LGBCE by 2 December 2024. 
 
6.9 The LGBCE will publish draft recommendations regarding warding 

patterns in March 2025. A consultation on the draft recommendations 
will run from 6 May 2025 to 14 July 2025, which the Council may want 
to respond to, and final recommendations will be published in November 
2025. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee 22 November 
2024
  
 
6.10 The legal order will be made in spring 2026 and be implemented at the 

2027 local elections. 
 
6.11 Other Districts and the County in Worcestershire have recently 

completed a review. 
 
 
7. RISK MANAGEMENT    
 
7.1  Council could decide not to make a submission although this would 

severely restrict the Council’s ability to influence the decision of LGBCE. 
 
8. APPENDICES and BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Appendix 1: Draft Council Warding Pattern Submission 
 
Background papers: 
LGBCE – Electoral Review of Bromsgrove 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 
Electoral Matters Committee 22 November 
2024
  
 
9.  REPORT SIGN OFF 
  

 
Department 
 

 
Name and Job Title 

 
Date 
 

 
Portfolio Holder 
 

  

 
Head of Service 
 

Claire Felton 
Assistant Director Legal, 
Democratic and Property 
Services 

11 November 
2024 

 
Financial Services 
 

Pete Carpenter 
Director of Resources/Deputy 
Chief Executive 

4 November 
2024 

 
Legal Services 
 

  

  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND 

ELECTORAL REVIEW OF BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL  

 

BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL’S PROPOSED WARD PATTERNING SUBMISSION  

 

 

 

 

NOVEMBER 2024  

 

 

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
2 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.      Current Ward Analysis .................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Approach to New Ward Patterning ................................................................................................ 6 

4. Proposed Ward Pattern .................................................................................................................. 8 

5. Proposed Change Detail ............................................................................................................... 10 

6. Conclusion .................................................................................................................................... 88 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
3 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 This document represents Bromsgrove District Council’s submission to the Local Government 

Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) on its consultation for the ward pattern stage of 

the electoral review.  

 

1.2 The last review of Bromsgrove District Council’s ward boundaries was conducted in 2012 - 

2014. Since then, as a result of electoral variances within the district, The LGBCE commenced 

an electoral review of the district in 2023.  

 

1.3 In the first stage of the electoral review for Bromsgrove, The LGBCE confirmed that the 

council size for Bromsgrove District will remain at 31 councillors.  

 

1.4 A working group was established to assess and recommend necessary boundary changes 

based on projected electorates for 2030, and the criteria set by the LGBCE. 

 

1.5 In developing these proposals, the working group followed the LGBCE’s three core criteria: 

 

Electoral equality: The proposals aim to ensure that as far as possible, each councillor 

represents approximately the same number of electors. 

Community interests and identities: The working group considered natural community 

boundaries, such as roads, rivers, and shared local amenities wherever possible. This ensures 

that wards reflect established community ties, helping to maintain cohesion. However, it was 

acknowledged early on in discussions that single member wards are smaller and therefore 

identifying natural boundaries can be more challenging.   

Effective and convenient local government: The proposed adjustments are designed to 

enable councillors to represent their wards effectively, ensuring smooth delivery of local 

government services. 

To be updated after Electoral Matters Committee and Full Council.  

1.6 The Council’s proposed ward patterning was considered at a meeting of the Electoral Matters 

Committee on … 

 

1.7 At Full Council on … 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
4 

 

2. Current Ward Analysis  

2.1 The LGBCE produced a ward-based electorate forecast for 2030 using electorate data for the 

past three years. Where the housing land supply indicates large scale development, the 

forecast electorate has been adjusted, with the LBGCE’s standardised electorate of 1.6 

electors for each property planned in the new development added on to the forecast 

electorate for the relevant ward.  

 

2.2 The total forecast electorate for the district in 2030 is 82,935. This equates to an average of 

2675 electors to be represented by each of the 31 councillors. To achieve electoral equality 

wherever possible, the LGBCE suggest a tolerance of ten percent either side of this average. 

This tolerance provides a range of 2408 to 2943 per councillor. 

2.3 If a proposed ward were to exceed this tolerance, the LGBCE would require a strong 

justification for this, backed up by evidence.   

 

2.4 The Map below shows the existing ward pattern:  

 

1 Alvechurch South 11 Cofton 21 Perryfields 

2 Alvechurch Village 12 Drakes Cross 22 Rock Hill 

3 Aston Fields 13 Hagley East 23 Rubery North 

4 Avoncroft 14 Hagley West 24 Rubery South 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
5 

 

5 Barnt Green and Hopwood 15 Hill Top 25 Sanders Park 

6 Belbroughton and Romsley 16 Hollywood 26 Sidemoor 

7 Bromsgrove Central 17 Lickey Hills 27 Slideslow  

8 Catshill North 18 Lowes Hill 28 Tardebigge 

9 Catshill South 19 Marlbrook 29 Wythall East 

10 Charford 20 Norton 30 Wythall West 

      

2.5 The following table shows the projected electorate for 2030 for each current ward: 

Ward 
2030 Projected 
Electorate  

No of 
Cllrs 

2030 Projected 
Electorate per 
Councillor  

Variance 
from 
Average 
(%) 

Alvechurch South 2475 1 2475 -7.49% 

Alvechurch Village 2373 1 2373 -11.30% 

Aston Fields 2662 1 2662 -0.50% 

Avoncroft 3291 1 3291 23.01% 

Barnt Green and Hopwood 2534 1 2534 -5.28% 

Belbroughton and Romsley 5759 2 2880 7.65% 

Bromsgrove Central 2490 1 2490 -6.93% 

Catshill North 2266 1 2266 -15.30% 

Catshill South 2330 1 2330 -12.91% 

Charford 2431 1 2431 -9.13% 

Cofton 2738 1 2738 2.34% 

Drakes Cross 2570 1 2570 -3.94% 

Hagley East 2593 1 2593 -3.08% 

Hagley West 3142 1 3142 17.44% 

Hill Top 2735 1 2735 2.23% 

Hollywood 2486 1 2486 -7.08% 

Lickey Hills 2380 1 2380 -11.04% 

Lowes Hill 2678 1 2678 0.10% 

Marlbrook 2529 1 2529 -5.47% 

Norton 2688 1 2688 0.47% 

Perryfields 3878 1 3878 44.95% 

Rock Hill 2542 1 2542 -4.98% 

Rubery North 2526 1 2526 -5.58% 

Rubery South 2661 1 2661 -0.54% 

Sanders Park 2933 1 2933 9.63% 

Sidemoor 2819 1 2819 5.37% 

Slideslow 2869 1 2869 7.24% 

Tardebigge 2538 1 2538 -5.13% 

Wythall East 2598 1 2598 -2.89% 

Wythall West 2421 1 2421 -9.51% 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
6 

 

2.6 Those highlighted in yellow in the above table currently have a variance outside of the ten 

percent tolerance. Those wards are: 

- Alvechurch Village  

- Avoncroft  

- Catshill North  

- Catshill South  

- Hagley West   

- Lickey Hills  

- Perryfields 

 

2.7 The following wards are on the borderline of the tolerance level: 

- Charford  

- Wythall West 

- Sanders Park 

 

2.8 The level of variance in the table shown above indicates a need for there to be changes 

across the Bromsgrove District in order to address the electoral inequality. 

 

3. Approach to New Ward Patterning  

3.1 Officers met with the Electoral Matters Committee in June 2024, where it was proposed that 

a working group be set up to compose a council-wide ward pattern proposal. This was 

agreed upon during the meeting, and it was decided that the working group would be 

composed of members of the committee. It was also determined that any members with an 

interest in a particular area would be invited to attend the relevant meeting at which their 

area was being discussed, ensuring that all wards received appropriate input from local 

representatives. 

3.2 During the first meeting of the working group, a scoping document was prepared to guide 
the process. Members were also provided with the LGBCE’s guidance on ward pattern 
submissions, which helped clarify the requirements for achieving electoral equality, 
reflecting community identities, and ensuring effective local governance. This guidance 
served as a framework for the group's discussions throughout the process. 

 
3.3 At this initial meeting, the working group also discussed its approach to determining the 

number of councillors per ward. The group weighed the advantages and disadvantages of 

single-member versus two-member wards. The working group acknowledged that two-

member wards could better reflect certain community identities and interests, particularly 

when single member wards would result in splitting a community. Ultimately, it was decided 

that whilst single-member wards would be preferred where feasible, two-member wards 

would not be discounted if they provided a better fit for balancing community cohesion and 

electoral equality. 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
7 

 

3.4 The working group decided to take a phased approach to ward patterning, moving through 

different sections of the district methodically. Each phase focused on reviewing specific areas 

of the district to ensure all wards were given thorough attention. This allowed the group to: 

 Examine current ward boundaries and population changes. 

 Discuss any new developments that could impact electorate numbers (e.g., housing 

expansions). 

 Evaluate community ties, ensuring that boundaries align with local services, schools, and 

other shared facilities. 

 Consider consultation feedback from local councillors, where applicable, for each specific 

area under review. 

3.5 The group initially reviewed areas with the largest electoral variances, as these needed the 

most urgent adjustment to comply with the LGBCE’s tolerance limits. Perryfields was 

amongst the first areas considered, where large developments and population growth 

necessitated boundary changes. For each area, the group consulted available data on 

projected electorate numbers and geographic features to ensure logical boundaries. 

 

3.6 Following the review of wards with significant variances, the group moved on to areas where 

community cohesion was a primary concern, such as Catshill. In these areas, the group 

worked closely with local councillors to understand the specific needs and identities of these 

communities, ensuring that ward patterns did not disrupt established relationships or 

services. 

 
3.7 Throughout the process, the working group revisited areas where necessary, making 

refinements to boundaries based on ongoing discussions and feedback. The group remained 

flexible, recognising that the ward patterning needed to balance both electoral equality and 

community identity effectively. 

  

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
8 

 

4. Proposed Ward Pattern 

4.1 The working group created the following ward pattern proposal for Bromsgrove District 

Council:  

 

 

 

 

 

1 Alvechurch South 11 Drakes Cross 21 Rubery North 

2 Alvechurch Village 12 Hagley  22 Rubery South 

3 Aston Fields 13 Hill Top 23 Sanders Park 

4 Avoncroft 14 Hollywood 24 Sidemoor 

5 Barnt Green and Hopwood 15 Lickey Hills 25 Slideslow  

6 Belbroughton and Romsley 16 Lowes Hill 26 Tardebigge 

7 Bromsgrove Central 17 Marlbrook 27 Wythall East 

8 Catshill and Washingstocks  18 Norton and Lickey End  28 Wythall West 

9 Charford  19 Perryfields    

10 Cofton  20 Rock Hill    

      

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
9 

 

4.2 The following wards remain unchanged in the proposal:  

 

 Aston Fields  

 Barnt Green and Hopwood  

 Belbroughton and Romsley  

 Drakes Cross  

 Hill Top  

 Hollywood  

 Marlbrook  

 Rubery North  

 Rubery South  

 Tardebigge 

 

4.3 Whilst no changes are proposed for the above wards, each ward was discussed during 

meetings of the working group. It was felt appropriate to highlight the following as part of 

these discussions: 

 Drakes Cross and Hollywood - following a consultation with ward members, the 

working group discussed the possibility of combining Drakes Cross and Hollywood to 

become a two-member ward.  

 Tardebigge- It was acknowledged that a large development is proposed within the 

ward. However, this did not form part of the projected electorate during the 

preliminary stage of the review (as per table in paragraph 2.5). For this reason, it was 

decided that this development would not be considered as part of the ward pattern 

submission.   

 

4.4 All other wards have been amended in the outlined proposal.   

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
10 

 

4.5 The following table shows the projected electorate for 2030 for each proposed ward: 

Ward 
2030 Projected 
Electorate  

No of 
Cllrs 

2030 Projected 
Electorate per 
Councillor  

Variance 
from 
Average 
(%) 

Alvechurch South 2529 1 2529 -5.48% 

Alvechurch Village 2419 1 2419 -9.58% 

Aston Fields 2662 1 2662 -0.50% 

Avoncroft 2927 1 2927 8.74% 

Barnt Green and Hopwood 2534 1 2534 -5.28% 

Belbroughton and Romsley 5759 2 2880 7.65% 

Bromsgrove Central 2838 1 2838 5.55% 

Catshill and Washingstocks 5050 2 2525 -4.81% 

Charford 2763 1 2763 2.85% 

Cofton 2550 1 2550 -4.83% 

Drakes Cross 2570 1 2570 -3.94% 

Hagley  5735 2 2688 7.22% 

Hill Top 2735 1 2735 2.23% 

Hollywood 2486 1 2486 -7.08% 

Lickey Hills 2653 1 2653 -1.11% 

Lowes Hill 2736 1 2736 1.88% 

Marlbrook 2529 1 2529 -5.47% 

Norton and Lickey End  2772 1 2772 3.18% 

Perryfields 2721 1 2721 1.34% 

Rock Hill 2456 1 2456 -8.24% 

Rubery North 2526 1 2526 -5.58% 

Rubery South 2661 1 2661 -0.54% 

Sanders Park 2704 1 2704 0.73% 

Sidemoor 2607 1 2607 -2.77% 

Slideslow 2869 1 2869 7.24% 

Tardebigge 2538 1 2538 -5.13% 

Wythall East 2598 1 2598 -2.89% 

Wythall West 2421 1 2421 -9.51% 

 

5. Proposed Change Detail  

5.1 This section outlines the proposed boundary changes for each ward in which a change is 

being proposed, providing a detailed summary of adjustments made to ensure electoral 

balance, preserve community identity, and enhance effective governance across Bromsgrove 

district. 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
11 

 

5.2 The tables below present key information for each ward, including specific boundary 

modifications, the rationale behind these changes, and the anticipated impact. The wards 

are presented in the order in which the working group considered them.  

 

5.3 Hagley  

 

Section  Current Ward Name(s): Hagley East & 

Hagley West  

Proposed Ward Name: Hagley  

Socio-Economic Ward 

Profile1 

Hagley is a suburban area located at the northeast of Bromsgrove District 

with its own Parish council.  

 

Age Distribution: A large portion of the population is middle-aged and 

older adults (45+), but there is also a growing number of younger families. 

Approximately 23% of residents are aged 65 or older. 

Housing: Predominantly owner-occupied, with detached and semi-

detached homes. House prices are higher than the national average. 

Employment: High employment rate. Common sectors include 

professional services, education, and healthcare. 

Income: Higher-than-average incomes due to professional occupations. 

Education: High educational attainment, with well-rated local schools. 

Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, with growing diversity. 

Health: Above-average health outcomes and longer life expectancy. 

Transport: Well-connected by rail and road, popular with commuters. 

Crime: Low crime rates, contributing to its appeal for families and retirees.  

Projected Electorate (2030) Hagley East: 2593 

Hagley West: 3142 
Hagley: 5735 

Details of any large 

development within the 

area  

There is currently one development within the area on Western Road to 

the rear of Algoa House, comprising of 26 dwellings.  

Number of Councillors  Hagley East: 1 

Hagley West: 1 
Hagley: 2 

Electoral Variance  Hagley East: -3.08% 

Hagley West: +17.44% 
Hagley: 7.22% 

Boundary Description  The current Boundary for the two 

Hagley wards encompasses the 

entirety of the Hagley Parish. There is 

a small deviation from the parish 

boundary which was following a CGR 

in 2015 which amended the parish 

boundary to include land to the South 

and East of Newfield Road. This small 

area was not updated at ward level 

The discrepancy between the 

parish and ward boundary has 

been reconciled to ensure that 

the entirety of the parish 

boundary sits within the Hagley 

ward. The Hagley East and Hagley 

West wards have been combined 

                                                           
1 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
12 

 

and therefore currently sits within the 

Belbroughton and Romsley ward.  

The boundary between Hagley East 

and Hagley West Initially runs 

alongside the trainline before turning 

off at the Hagley Playing Fields and 

along Victoria Passage and on to 

Worcester Road.   

to create one, two-member 

ward.  

Rationale for Boundaries  

Hagley has previously a single, two-

member ward, before being split into 

two, single member wards at a 

previous review, creating the Hagley 

East and Hagley West wards.  

The current electoral inequality 

in the Hagley West ward 

(+17.44%) means that this is over 

the commission’s suggested 

tolerance. It was initially 

suggested that moving properties 

on the East side of Western Road 

(including the new development), 

would provide fairer local 

governance and electoral 

equality. However, upon 

discussing this with current ward 

members and the working group. 

It was felt that a single two-

member ward in Hagley would 

create better community 

cohesion and effective 

governance.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact 

on)  

There are three parish wards within the Hagley parish. There is no 

proposed change to these parish wards.   

Impact Assessment  The creation of a single two-member ward for Hagley will ensure better 

electoral equality. Currently, Hagley West experiences an electoral 

variance of +17.44%, significantly above the LGBCE’s tolerance. By 

merging Hagley East and Hagley West into a unified ward, the variance is 

reduced to 7.21%, which promotes more equal representation without 

altering the broader Hagley boundary. This proposal resolves existing 

electoral imbalances without negatively impacting residents. The change 

will result in more effective governance for Hagley by ensuring that both 

areas are represented by two councillors, enhancing decision-making and 

community engagement. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
13 

 

Community Identity 

Considerations  

Hagley has a strong sense of community identity, with shared access to 

local amenities, schools, and recreational facilities. The decision to 

maintain Hagley’s broader boundary while merging the two existing wards 

reflects the cohesive nature of the village, preserving its suburban 

character and integrity. Hagley functions as a unified community, and a 

two-member ward ensures representation that aligns with the village’s 

identity. By not altering the wider boundaries, the proposal respects 

Hagley’s distinct identity within the district, providing continuity for 

residents who use the same services and facilities, while also addressing 

electoral imbalances. 

Consultation Feedback 

(Current Ward Member)  

Cllr Colella, the ward member for Hagley West, opposed the initial single 

member ward pattern (map 3) put forward to the working group as he felt 

that there was not a clear boundary in which electors could be moved into 

the other ward and worried about the effects on community cohesion. Cllr 

Colella suggested that a two-member ward would be more appropriate 

given the current electoral inequality between the two wards.  

 

No comments on the proposal were received from the ward member for 

the current Hagley East ward.   

Working Group Comments  The working group initially considered a proposal for two, single member 

wards with a boundary change to address the electoral inequality 

between Hagley East and Hagley West. However, at the working group 

meeting, after concerns were raised by the current Hagley West ward 

member, the group decided to merge the two single member wards in 

one two-member ward and put this forward in the final proposal to 

Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
14 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current ward boundaries 

 
Map 2 Discrepancy between ward boundary and parish boundary  

  

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
15 

 

Map 3 Initial proposal for two, single member wards   

 

Map 4 – Final proposed two-member ward 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
16 

 

 

5.4 Catshill and Washingstocks  

Section  Current Ward Name(s): Catshill 
North & Catshill South  

Proposed Ward Name: Catshill 
and Washingstocks   

Socio-Economic Ward Profile2  Catshill is a suburban area located in the northern part of Bromsgrove 
District. Both the Catshill North and Catshill South district wards form 
part of the Catshill & North Marlbrook Parish.  
 
Age Distribution: A balanced mix of age groups, with a notable 
percentage of middle-aged adults and a growing number of younger 
families. Around 21% of the population is aged 65 or older. 
Housing: Predominantly semi-detached and terraced homes, with a 
mix of owner-occupied and rented properties. House prices are more 
affordable compared to surrounding areas. 
Employment: A moderate employment rate, with many residents 
commuting to nearby towns. Common employment sectors include 
retail, manufacturing, healthcare, and administrative services. 
Income: Average household income levels are close to the national 
median, with a mix of professional and skilled manual workers. 
Education: Educational attainment is varied, with local schools 
providing primary and secondary education, and a growing emphasis 
on vocational training. 
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, with some increase in 
diversity reflecting national trends. 
Health: Generally good health outcomes, though slightly below the 
district average, with a moderate proportion of residents managing 
long-term health conditions. 
Transport: Well-connected by road, with proximity to the M5 and 
M42, making it a convenient location for commuters. 
Crime: Low to moderate crime rates, typical of suburban areas, 
contributing to a generally safe environment. 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Catshill North: 2266 
Catshill South: 2330 

Catshill and Washingstocks: 5050 

Details of any large development 
within the area  

There is a large development in the Perryfields area. It is proposed 
that Phases 1 & 3 of this development move into the Catshill and 
Washingstocks ward. Phase 1 is comprised of 149 Properties (238 
electors) and Phase 3 is comprised of 135 properties (216 electors) 

Number of Councillors  Catshill North: 1 
Catshill South: 1 

Catshill and Washingstocks: 2 

Electoral Variance  Catshill North: -15.30% 
Catshill South: -12.91% 

Catshill and Washingstocks: -
4.81% 

Boundary Description  The Current Catshill North Ward 
runs along the M5 to the west of 
the ward and covers the 
northern part of Catshill, 
extending up Woodrow Lane 
toward Lydiate Ash. The 

The two Catshill wards have been 
combined to create a single two-
member ward. The boundary at 
the south of the former Catshill 
South has been extended to 

                                                           
2 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
17 

 

boundary between Catshill 
North and Catshill South 
currently sits on Golden Cross 
Lane.  
The Catshill South ward covers 
the southern part of Catshill. 
The southern boundary 
currently follows the M42 
motorway predominantly with a 
small area running through 
toward Perryfields on the 
Stourbridge Road.  

include Phases 1 & 3 of the 
Perryfields development.  

Rationale for Boundaries  

The Boundaries for the two 
Catshill wards were established 
at the previous electoral review, 
following the decision to not 
include the Bournheath Parish 
within the Catshill North ward, 
following submissions received 
on its draft recommendations. 
This left an elector deficit in 
both Catshill North and Catshill 
south wards of - 9 and -7% 
respectively at the time of their 
creation.   

Since the previous review, the 
deficit of electors against the 
average in both wards has grown 
further, with Catshill North 
projected to be -15.30% and 
Catshill South – 12.91% by 2030. It 
is felt that it is therefore essential 
to relook at the boundaries to 
ensure a better electoral equality.  
The current boundary to the south 
encompasses a small number of 
properties to the south of the 
M42 towards the Perryfields ward. 
As the previous review shows a 
lack of community cohesion when 
considering expansion to the West 
of Catshill, it is felt that moving 
part of the new Perryfields 
development into the Catshill and 
Washingstocks ward is the best 
option, when considering 
development within the locality. 
The proposed boundary promotes 
better electoral equality and 
further extends a current 
boundary.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  No proposed impact on the Catshill & North Marlbrook Parish.  

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary changes for the new Catshill and 
Washingstocks ward will create a more balanced electoral ratio, 
bringing the ward's variance to -4.81%. By combining Catshill North 
and Catshill South into a single two-member ward, the change 
ensures that the entire community is represented more cohesively, 
addressing the previous population deficit in both wards. The 
inclusion of Phases 1 & 3 of the Perryfields development will bring 
new residents into the ward, without disrupting the local community 
structure. It is anticipated that these residents will utilize Catshill’s 
local services and amenities, ensuring they are well-integrated into 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
18 

 

the ward. The adjustments do not significantly impact existing 
community relationships and are designed to improve governance by 
ensuring more equal representation. 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The new Catshill and Washingstocks ward reflects the community 
identity by uniting the northern and southern parts of Catshill into a 
single ward. This change strengthens the cohesion of Catshill as a 
unified community, ensuring that both longstanding residents and 
those in the new Perryfields development share representation. 
Catshill has a strong identity, characterized by shared facilities such as 
local schools, parks, and shops, which serve both Catshill North and 
Catshill South. The ward also includes the historic Washingstocks 
Farm, a notable local landmark that ties into the heritage of the area. 
By maintaining key boundaries and aligning communities with shared 
interests, the new ward supports a sense of local pride and cohesion. 
This approach ensures that residents, whether in established areas or 
new developments, remain connected through common services and 
amenities, preserving the community’s integrity. 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

Two, single-member wards were initially proposed to ward members 
and the working group by officers.  
Cllr Webb (Catshill South ward member) – “On reflection I don’t agree 
with the changes proposed, by moving half of Barley Mow Lane away 
from Catshill South I feel it is taking away the heart of the ward and 
adding Perryfields which is not even in Catshill.  Golden Cross Lane 
would make sense although I still don’t agree with it.  By taking some 
of south and giving it to North to make up for Perryfields to be 
included in South, I don’t feel is appropriate.” 
 
Following the above comment, officers met with Cllr Webb separately 
to discuss the Catshill changes and the reason for the review. 
Following the discussion, Cllr Webb felt concerned that the proposed 
Catshill North/South divide took away from the heart of Catshill and 
didn’t seem to fit in with community cohesion. Cllr Webb understood 
the need for electoral equality and fairness and therefore suggested 
that the entirety of the two proposed areas be joined together to 
create a two-member ward. Cllr Webb felt that this would mean that 
Catshill was preserved as a community whilst also allowing for 
representation for residents of the new developments moving into 
the ward.  
 
Cllr McEldowney (Catshill North ward member) agreed with Cllr 
Webb that a single, two-member ward would be more appropriate.   

Working Group Comments  The working group reviewed the initial proposal (map 2) before 
discussing the ward members concerns. The group decided that 
concerns raised by ward members were valid and therefore decided 
to put forward the two wards as one, two-member ward in the 
submission to Full Council. The name of the ward was discussed it 
was felt that adding Washingstocks to the name fitted in with the 
community and a large farm which has been in the area for many 
years.  

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
19 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
20 

 

Map 2 Initially proposed – two, one-member ward boundaries   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
21 

 

Map 3 – Final proposed two-member ward  

 

 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
22 

 

5.5 Perryfields  

Section  Current Ward Name: Perryfields Proposed Ward Name: Perryfields   

Socio-Economic Ward Profile3  Perryfields is in the western part of Bromsgrove, close to the town 
centre but with a more suburban and semi-rural character. It lies 
near key transport routes, including the A38 and M5, providing easy 
access to surrounding areas. Perryfields is currently undergoing 
large development (See Map 4 – Proposed Development Phasing 
Plan).  
 
Age Distribution: A diverse age profile with a notable percentage of 
middle-aged adults (30-50 years) and a growing number of young 
families moving into newly developed housing estates. About 23% of 
the population is aged 65 or older. 
Housing: A mix of housing types, including newer housing estates 
with detached and semi-detached properties. There is a high level of 
owner-occupancy, and housing development continues due to the 
area's suburban appeal. 
Employment: Many residents are employed in professional, 
managerial, and administrative roles, often commuting to nearby 
urban centres, including Birmingham. Common employment sectors 
include professional services, retail, education, and healthcare. 
Income: Household incomes are generally higher than the national 
average, reflecting the professional nature of many residents' 
employment. 
Education: High educational attainment, with many residents holding 
higher education qualifications.  
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, with increasing diversity in 
recent years as new residents move into the area. 
Health: Generally high levels of health, with most residents reporting 
good or very good health.  
Transport: Good transport links, with easy access to the M5 and M42 
motorways, making it a popular location for commuters. Public 
transport options, though available, are more limited compared to 
Bromsgrove town centre. 
Crime: Relatively low crime rates, consistent with other suburban and 
semi-rural areas of Bromsgrove. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Perryfields: 3878 Perryfields: 2721 

Details of any large development 
within the area  

There is a large development in the Perryfields area. A phasing plan 
of the development has been included within this proposal for 
information. It is proposed that Phases 1 & 3 of this development 
move into the proposed Catshill and Washingstocks ward. Phase 1 is 
comprised of 149 Properties (238 electors) and Phase 3 is comprised 
of 135 properties (216 electors). Phase 2(648 electors), Phase 4 (472 

                                                           
3 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
23 

 

electors) & Phase 5 (416 electors) of the development will remain 
within the Perryfields ward.  

Number of Councillors  
Perryfields: 1 Perryfields: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Perryfields: 44.95% Perryfields: 1.34% 

Boundary Description  The Perryfields ward in 
Bromsgrove is situated to the 
west of the town centre and is 
bordered by both urban and 
semi-rural areas. Its boundary 
runs along the A38 to the east, 
which connects the area to 
Bromsgrove town centre. To the 
North and West, the ward 
extends towards more rural 
parts of the district which 
comprises of the Dodford with 
Grafton parish.  
The M5 motorway runs through 
the centre of the ward, with 
new development taking place 
to the east of this, along 
Perryfields Road and 
Kidderminster Road.   
Timberhonger Lane forms part 
of its southern boundary, 
connecting it to nearby 
neighbourhoods. 

The Perryfields boundary has 
been reduced in the North-East 
area of the ward, with phases 1 
and 3 of the new development 
moved into the proposed Catshill 
and Washingstocks ward. Existing 
residential properties in the 
North-East of the ward, at this end 
of the Perryfields Road, have been 
moved into the Sidemoor ward, 
including the King Geoge 
Recreation Ground. All other 
boundaries remain the same. To 
the East, Cherry Orchard Drive & 
Carol Avenue have been moved 
out of the Perryfields ward and 
into the Sanders Park ward.  

Rationale for Boundaries  

The Perryfields ward was 
created at the last review with a 
significant electoral deficit to 
account for new housing 
development within the ward. 
This development has taken 
longer than initially expected 
with work currently being 
undertaken. The development is 
now larger than accounted for in 
the previous review, resulting in 
a much larger electorate for the 
current ward in 2030 with an 
electoral variance of +44.95% 

Due to the size of the current 
ward, it was apparent that a 
reduction in the Perryfields 
boundary was necessary to create 
fairer electoral representation. 
Initial discussions on this issue 
identified that the best place to do 
this was to the Northeast of the 
ward whereby Catshill ward had 
already stepped over the M42 
boundary and had an electoral 
deficit (See proposal for Catshill 
and Washingstocks ward). It was 
felt that these electors would use 
facilities in Catshill as well as those 
in the centre of Bromsgrove. The 
recreation ground has been 
moved into the Sidemoor ward as 
King George Close is located 
within this ward and therefore 
represents a shared community 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
24 

 

interest.  To the East of the ward, 
Cherry Orchard Drive & Carol 
Avenue have been moved out of 
the ward as it was felt that this 
was an anomaly of the boundary 
and should have been in the 
Sanders Park ward. The resulting 
electoral ratio within the proposed 
Perryfields ward is much fairer at 
1.34%.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  There will be no impact on the Dodford with Grafton parish boundary, 
which will remain within the Perryfields ward.   

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary changes for Perryfields ward are necessary to 
ensure fairer electoral representation. The current ward has a 
significant electoral variance (+44.95%), which is addressed by 
reducing the ward's size and redistributing areas with similar 
community characteristics to neighbouring wards. By consulting with 
planning officers and considering the ongoing large-scale 
development, the new boundaries ensure that Perryfields remains 
manageable in size and representation. The proposed adjustments 
align with local community interests and reflect logical extensions of 
surrounding wards, resulting in a more balanced electorate (1.34% 
variance) that better represents the growing population. 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The proposal carefully considers community identity by maintaining 
shared access to local amenities, recreational areas, and travel 
networks. The decision to move Phases 1 and 3 of the new 
development into the neighbouring Catshill and Washingstocks ward 
was made on the basis that these areas may use facilities in Catshill. 
Additionally, the relocation of Cherry Orchard Drive and Carol Avenue 
to Sanders Park ward corrects a perceived historical boundary 
anomaly. These changes aim to preserve and enhance community 
cohesion, ensuring that residents continue to identify with the local 
facilities and areas they regularly use. The working group concluded 
that the changes would have no negative impact on community 
identity. 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments were provided by the ward member when consulted.  

Working Group Comments  The working group understood the need for fairer electoral equality 
in Perryfields. The group held many discussions about the best parts 
of Perryfields to be moved into surrounding wards and used local 
knowledge to decide how this would look in the Council’s proposal.  

 

 

 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
25 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
26 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
27 

 

Map 3 – Proposed Northeastern Boundary  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
28 

 

Map 4 – Proposed Development Phasing Plan  

 

  

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
29 

 

5.6 Sidemoor  

Section  Current Ward Name: Sidemoor Proposed Ward Name: Sidemoor   

Socio-Economic Ward Profile4  
Age Distribution: A balanced mix of age groups, with a significant 
proportion of young families and working-age adults (25-50). Around 
22% of the population is aged 65 or older, reflecting a mix of long-
term residents and newer arrivals. 
Housing: A mix of semi-detached and terraced housing, with both 
owner-occupied and rental properties. Sidemoor includes some 
affordable housing and older residential areas, with moderately 
priced homes compared to other parts of Bromsgrove. 
Employment: The employment rate is moderate, with many residents 
working in retail, manufacturing, and public services. The area also 
has a proportion of residents in administrative and skilled manual 
work, reflecting a more working-class demographic. 
Income: Household incomes in Sidemoor are closer to the national 
median, with a broad range of income levels. The area has a mix of 
both professional and industrial workers. 
Education: Educational attainment is varied, with some residents 
holding higher education qualifications, while others have a focus on 
vocational training. Local primary and secondary schools serve the 
area. 
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, with some increase in 
diversity, reflecting national trends. 
Health: The general health of the population is in line with national 
averages. A moderate proportion of residents report managing long-
term health conditions. 
Transport: Sidemoor is well-connected to Bromsgrove town centre, 
with good access to local roads and public transport options, making 
it convenient for commuters and local travel. 
Crime: Crime rates are moderate, reflecting the mixed socioeconomic 
makeup of the area.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Sidemoor: 2819 Sidemoor: 2607  

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Sidemoor: 1 Sidemoor: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Sidemoor: 5.37% Sidemoor: -2.77% 

                                                           
4 Based on 2021 Census  

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
30 

 

Boundary Description  

The Sidemoor boundary to the 
West falls along the boundary of 
King George Close and the 
Stourbridge Road to the East. It 
runs until Crabtree Lane to the 
Southwest of the ward before 
cutting through and joining 
alongside Broad Street and onto 
Providence Road / Recreation 
Road.  

The current boundary has been 
extended to the Northwest of the 
ward to include King George 
Recreation Ground. To the South, 
a small boundary anomaly has 
been rectified along Providence 
Road, taking property numbers 24, 
26 & 28 into the Sanders Park 
ward. In the Southernmost corner, 
the boundary has been adjusted, 
taking Bryson Place, Bilberry 
Place, Chandler Court, Parkside 
Court and Mitre Court (current 
polling district SMB) into the 
Lowes Hill ward.   

Rationale for new boundary  The inclusion of King George Recreation Ground within the new ward 
and properties on Perryfields Road felt appropriate due to the shared 
interest in and use of the facility. The small amendment on 
Providence Road was suggested due to the apparent anomaly within 
the boundary and affects only three properties. The movement of 
properties into Lowes Hill was deemed appropriate due to shared 
community interests and effective and convenient local governance.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Impact Assessment  The impact of the proposed changes is thought to be low. Properties 
moving into the Sidemoor ward have current ties with the Sidemoor 
ward and those moving out have shared community interest with the 
Lowes Hill ward, as well as local governance considerations.  

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The working group did not feel that the small changes made to the 
Sidemoor ward warranted any community identity considerations.  

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments were made by the ward member when consulted.   

Working Group Comments  The working group initially viewed a slightly different ward pattern for 
Sidemoor. However, there were concerns about the movement of 
more of Perryfields into Sidemoor, resulting in the loss of properties 
to Sanders Park at the South of the ward. This proposed ward is as a 
result of discussions had in the working group. It is felt that this 
provides good electoral equality without breaking any community 
identity within Sidemoor.  

 

 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
31 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
32 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
33 

 

5.7 Sanders Park  

Section  Current Ward Name: Sanders 
Park  

Proposed Ward Name: Sanders 
Park  

Socio-Economic Ward Profile5 Age Distribution: A balanced population with a notable number of 
young families and working-age adults (25-50). Around 26% of the 
population is aged 65 or older, with the area appealing to both 
families and retirees due to its green spaces and proximity to the 
town centre. 
Housing: Primarily semi-detached and detached houses, with a mix of 
owner-occupied and rental properties. Housing in the ward benefits 
from its proximity to Sanders Park, making it a desirable residential 
area. Property prices tend to be moderate to above average due to 
the location. 
Employment: A high proportion of residents work in professional, 
administrative, and service industries, often commuting to nearby 
urban centres. Retail, education, and healthcare sectors are also 
significant employers in the area. 
Income: Average household income levels are slightly higher than the 
national average, with a mix of middle-class professionals and skilled 
workers. 
Education: Educational attainment is relatively high, with many 
residents holding college or university qualifications.  
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, though the area has seen 
gradual diversification, with a growing number of residents from 
other ethnic backgrounds. 
Health: The general health of residents is above average, with many 
reporting good or very good health. The area has access to local 
healthcare facilities and recreational spaces that promote healthy 
lifestyles. 
Transport: Sanders Park Ward is well-connected, with easy access to 
the A38 and Bromsgrove town centre. Public transport options, 
including buses, are available for local and regional travel. 
Crime: Crime rates are low, making Sanders Park a safe and family-
friendly area. Its community-focused atmosphere and the presence of 
Sanders Park contribute to a high quality of life. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Sanders Park: 2933 Sanders Park: 2704 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Sanders Park: 1 Sanders Park: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Sanders Park: 9.63% Sanders Park: 0.73% 

                                                           
5 Based on 2021 Census Data 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
34 

 

Boundary Description  The current Sanders Park ward 
runs along Crabtree Lane to the 
North, cutting through onto 
Broad Lane before following 
Providence Road. It then runs 
along Churchfields Road and 
onto Recreation Road. To the 
East the boundary runs along 
Bromsgrove main High Street, 
along Ednall Lane and Hill Lane 
before joining the Worcester 
Road. The ward follows the line 
of Battlefield Brook across 
Sanders Park, before joining 
Whitford Road.  

The current boundary has been 
moved to the West to include 
Cherry Orchard Drive and Carol 
Avenue. To the East of the ward, 
the High Street has been taken out 
of the ward and the boundary 
moved to Market Street. There are 
three properties which have been 
moved into the ward on 
Providence Road in order to 
provide a more logical boundary.  

Rationale for proposed 
boundary  

The current ward has a fairly high number of electors at 9.63% above 
the average. When reviewing the current ward pattern, it was felt 
that the high street could reasonably move into the Bromsgrove 
Central ward, to which it has more commonality. The addition of 
Cherry Orchard Drive and Carol Avenue reflects better community ties 
within the Sanders Park ward. The adjustment of the boundary on 
Providence Road was felt to be more logical and reflect a more 
obvious boundary.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Impact Assessment  The proposed changes are thought to have a positive impact, with 
Sanders Park more in line with its community ties.  

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments were made by the ward member when consulted.   

Working Group Comments  The working group initially reviewed a slightly different proposal for 
the Sanders Park ward. However, upon discussing the ward at the 
working group meeting the changes now proposed were highlighted 
to better reflect communities as well as making logical changes to the 
current ward pattern. It was also noted that the proposed changes 
also result in a much better electoral ratio for the ward.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
35 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
36 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
37 

 

5.7 Bromsgrove Central 

  

Section  Current Ward Name: 
Bromsgrove Central  

Proposed Ward Name: 
Bromsgrove Central 

Socio-Economic Ward Profile6 Age Distribution: A diverse mix of young professionals, families, and a 
significant number of older adults. Around 29% of residents are aged 
65 or older, reflecting a blend of long-term residents and newer 
arrivals attracted to the central location. 
Housing: The ward has a mix of flats, terraced houses, and semi-
detached homes, with a combination of owner-occupied and rental 
properties. Housing costs vary, with a greater proportion of rental 
accommodation compared to suburban wards, making it accessible to 
young professionals and those seeking more affordable housing near 
the town centre. 
Employment: Many residents are employed in retail, administrative, 
and service sectors, with a significant number working locally in 
Bromsgrove’s town centre.  
Income: Household incomes in Bromsgrove Central are close to the 
national average, with a diverse economic base. The area is home to 
both professionals and service workers. 
Education: Educational attainment is mixed. The ward includes 
younger, working-age residents with varying levels of qualifications.  
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, with increasing diversity over 
recent years, reflecting the town’s growing population and central 
location. 
Health: Residents' health is in line with national averages, with a 
range of health services easily accessible within the town centre. A 
moderate proportion of the population reports long-term health 
conditions. 
Transport: Bromsgrove Central is highly connected, with excellent 
public transport links including bus routes and proximity to 
Bromsgrove railway station. The ward is well-served by local roads, 
including the A38 and nearby motorways (M5 and M42), making it a 
key commuter hub. 
Crime: Crime rates in Bromsgrove Central are higher than in suburban 
areas due to its town centre location.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Bromsgrove Central: 2490 Bromsgrove Central: 2838 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Bromsgrove Central: 1 Bromsgrove Central: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Bromsgrove Central: -6.93% Bromsgrove Central: 5.55% 

                                                           
6 Based on 2021 Census Data  

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
38 

 

Boundary Description  The Boundary for Bromsgrove 
Central runs along the A38 to 
the East, crossing over to Old 
Station Road. It follows Charford 
Road to the South and 
Worcester Road to the West, 
Splitting off to Hill Lane and onto 
Ednall Lane. In the Northwest, it 
runs along New Road and onto 
Windsor Street. North 
Bromsgrove High School and 
South Bromsgrove High School 
fall within the ward, as well as 
Bromsgrove School and 
Bromsgrove Prep School.  

The Boundary has been moved to 
the West of the ward to 
incorporate Bromsgrove High 
Street as well as Station Street, 
Guild Road, Mill Lane and Church 
Street, from the Sanders Park 
ward. Manor Court Road has also 
been moved into the ward to 
South of the ward boundary, and 
out of the Charford ward.  

Rationale for proposed 
boundary  

It was felt appropriate to move the Bromsgrove High Street into the 
Bromsgrove Central ward. There are often misconceptions that the 
ward already covers this area due to its name and therefore this 
promotes more effective and convenient local governance. It was felt 
that Manor Court Road should also be moved into the ward as 
properties border the Bromsgrove School within the ward and this 
provides for better community ties. The electoral equality in the ward 
is also deemed to be at an acceptable 5.55%.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments were received from the ward member when consulted.   

Working Group Comments  The working group agreed that the High Street should be moved into 
the Bromsgrove Central ward when this was discussed at a meeting.  
It was also raised that Manor Court Road should be moved into the 
ward, with members feeling it had more community ties to 
Bromsgrove Central.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
39 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
40 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
41 

 

5.8 Charford  

 

Section  Current Ward Name: Charford  Proposed Ward Name: Charford  

Socio-Economic Profile7 Age Distribution: Charford has a diverse age profile, with a high 
proportion of young families and working-age adults (25-50). Around 
17% of the population is aged 65 or older, with a strong presence of 
both older and newer generations of residents. 
Housing: The ward is characterized by social housing, affordable 
housing, and a mix of owner-occupied properties, primarily semi-
detached and terraced houses. Housing costs in Charford are 
generally lower than in other parts of Bromsgrove, reflecting the 
working-class nature of the area. 
Employment: Many residents work in skilled trades, manufacturing, 
healthcare, and public services, with a mix of industrial and service-
sector jobs. A significant number of residents commute to nearby 
towns for work, while local employment includes retail, education, 
and manual labour sectors. 
Income: Household incomes in Charford are generally lower than the 
district and national averages, reflecting its working-class 
demographic. The area has a significant proportion of families and 
individuals receiving social support or benefits. 
Education: Educational attainment is mixed, with some residents 
pursuing vocational training and others having fewer formal 
qualifications.  
Ethnicity: Predominantly White British, though the area is slowly 
becoming more diverse, in line with broader trends in Bromsgrove. 
Health: Health outcomes in Charford are slightly below district 
averages, with some residents managing long-term health conditions. 
The ward has access to local healthcare services, though it has a 
higher proportion of residents reporting moderate health issues. 
Transport: Charford has good road links to Bromsgrove town centre 
and surrounding areas, with access to public transport, including 
buses. The ward is close to the A38 and M5, making it a reasonable 
location for commuting. 
Crime: Crime rates are higher than in other areas of Bromsgrove, 
reflecting the socioeconomic challenges in the ward. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Charford: 2431 Charford: 2763 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Charford: 1 Charford: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Charford: -9.13% Charford: 2.85% 

                                                           
7 Based on 2021 Census Data  

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
42 

 

Boundary Description  The Charford ward runs along 
the Worcester Road to the 
Southwest of the ward, running 
along Manor Court Road before 
joining Charford Road to the 
south.  Its Eastern boundary is 
on Stoke Road with Austin Road 
at the South. St Peter’s and 
Charford First School sit within 
the Charford ward.  

Due to the electoral deficit in 
Charford, the boundary has been 
extended in the West of the ward 
to include Breakback Road, 
Foxwalks Avenue and Whitford 
Close. To the North of the ward, 
Manor Court Road has been 
moved out of the ward and into 
the Bromsgrove Central ward.  

Rationale for New Boundary  The electorate in Charford is currently lower than average at -9.13%. 
The area surrounding the Charford ward was considered and the 
housing estate surrounding Breakback Road was considered to be the 
best choice for movement into the Charford ward as they are of a 
similar demographic and make use of the same facilities within the 
community.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary changes for Charford ward aim to address 
the current electoral variance, increasing the electorate from -9.13% 
to 2.85%, bringing it closer to the district average. By incorporating 
the housing estates around Breakback Road, Foxwalks Avenue, and 
Whitford Close, the proposal ensures a more equal representation for 
voters in the ward. These areas share similar demographic and 
socioeconomic characteristics with the existing Charford community, 
minimizing disruption to local residents. The proposed boundaries 
align logically with established roads and residential areas, 
contributing to improved local governance and representation 
without significantly altering the existing community structure. 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The proposed boundary changes for Charford ward reflect and 
preserve existing community ties. The newly included areas share 
socioeconomic characteristics with the rest of Charford, including 
similar access to local services, schools, and amenities. Residents of 
Breakback Road, Foxwalks Avenue, and Whitford Close already utilize 
the same facilities, making the boundary extension a natural fit. The 
changes maintain Charford's strong sense of community identity, 
ensuring that residents continue to access shared resources without 
disruption to their day-to-day connections. This adjustment 
strengthens community cohesion by keeping neighbourhoods with 
common interests together within the same ward. 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

The current ward member, Cllr Ammar provided the following 
comment:  
“I totally oppose this. Everyone knows that Charford has a large 
number of people who are not registered to vote, yet their issues still 
need to be delt with. To increase the size of the ward is not helpful. 
Many refugees live in Charford who are not eligible to vote. So they 
can’t register!”  
 
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
43 

 

Working Group Comments  The working group considered the ward member’s comments at their 
meeting. However, it was noted that the comments fell outside of the 
scope of the review and the objection was not quantifiable. The 
working group decided that they felt Manor Court Road would be 
better suited in the Bromsgrove Central ward and that this provided 
some reduction in electorate. It was noted that the proposed ward 
resulted in much better electoral equality.  

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundary 

 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
44 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundary  

 

  

Page 66

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
45 

 

5.9 Rock Hill  

Section  Current Ward Name: Rock Hill  Proposed Ward Name: Rock Hill   

Socio-Economic Ward Profile8 Age Distribution: The population includes a significant proportion of 
working-age adults (30-60 years) and a notable number of older 
adults aged 65 or over, reflecting the ward’s appeal to both families 
and retirees. 
Housing: The housing stock in Rock Hill is a mix of semi-detached and 
terraced homes, with some detached houses. There is a combination 
of owner-occupied and rental properties, with housing costs generally 
moderate compared to more affluent areas of Bromsgrove. The area 
also features older, more affordable housing and newer 
developments in some pockets. 
Employment: Residents of Rock Hill typically work in administrative, 
service, and skilled trade roles. Employment sectors include retail, 
education, healthcare, and manufacturing. 
Income: Household incomes in Rock Hill are close to the national 
median, reflecting a working- to middle-class demographic. The area 
includes a range of economic backgrounds, from skilled manual 
workers to professionals working in nearby urban areas. 
Education: Educational attainment is varied, with a mix of residents 
holding vocational qualifications and some with higher education 
degrees.  
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, though there is 
increasing diversity in the population, particularly among younger 
families moving into the area. 
Health: Health outcomes in Rock Hill are generally consistent with 
national averages. While many residents report good health, the ward 
includes some areas where there are higher instances of long-term 
health conditions, reflecting the socio-economic mix. 
Transport: Rock Hill benefits from good road connections to 
Bromsgrove town centre and access to the A38. Public transport is 
available, though many residents rely on private cars for commuting. 
The ward’s proximity to the M5 motorway makes it convenient for 
travel to surrounding cities. 
Crime: Crime rates in Rock Hill are generally low to moderate, in line 
with other suburban areas of Bromsgrove.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Rock Hill: 2542 Rock Hill: 2456 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Rock Hill: 1 Rock Hill: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Rock Hill: -4.98% Rock Hill: -8.24% 

                                                           
8 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
46 

 

Boundary Description  

The Rock Hill boundary follows 
Austin Road and Redditch Road 
to the Southeast. To the North, 
the boundary crosses Rock Hill 
on to Fox Lane to incorporate 
Breakback Road and Foxwalk 
Avenue. To the South, the 
boundary follows Wheatridge 
Road and on to Harvest Close, 
not including Harrow Close but 
including Granary Road, Heath 
Close and Hayloft Close before 
joining back on to the Redditch 
Road.  

To the South of the ward, the 
boundary has been amended to 
continue further down the 
Wrocester Road, joining the 
Hanbury Road, before joining the 
Redditch Road. This means that 
the Rock Hill ward now includes 
Dark Lane, The Furrows, The 
Paddock, Ploughmans Walk and 
Oasthouse Close.  
 
To the North of the ward, 
Breakback Road, Foxwalks 
Avenue, Alderley Road and 
Whitford Close have been taken 
out of the ward, moving the 
boundary further down Rock Hill.  
 
 

Rationale for New Boundary  The proposed boundary changes for Rock Hill ward aim to adjust the 
ward’s boundaries to better reflect electoral balance and maintain 
community cohesion. The changes primarily involve incorporating 
areas to the south of the ward, such as Dark Lane, The Furrows, The 
Paddock, and Oasthouse Close, while removing areas to the North, 
such as Breakback Road, Foxwalks Avenue, Alderley Road, and 
Whitford Close. 
These adjustments align Rock Hill more closely with natural 
geographic features and existing communities, ensuring that 
residents remain part of cohesive, shared community identities. The 
northern areas have been transferred to Charford ward due to their 
closer socio-economic ties with that community, while the southern 
areas have been included to ensure logical and manageable 
boundaries for Rock Hill. Thie change also helps address electoral 
inequalities within the Avoncroft and Charford wards.  
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The parish ward boundaries for Stoke Heath and Stoke Prior will need 
to be amended to reflect the change in the ward boundary. There 
would not be any change to the Stoke parish boundary.  

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary changes will result in a higher variance from 
the average in terms of electoral representation in Rock Hill, 
increasing the current variance from -4.98% to -8.24%, a variance 
within acceptable limits under the LGBCE’s guidelines. While this 
leaves Rock Hill slightly below the district’s average electorate, it 
ensures that the ward remains cohesive and aligned with natural 
community divisions. 
By incorporating the southern areas, including Dark Lane and The 
Furrows, the changes help to maintain a practical boundary while 
minimising disruption to residents’ access to local services and 
facilities. The areas transferred out to Charford share greater 
similarities with Charford in terms of local services and facilities. 
These adjustments ensure that Rock Hill Ward continues to function 

Page 68

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
47 

 

effectively in governance while providing fair representation to its 
residents. 
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The proposed boundary changes preserve the community identity of 
Rock Hill by keeping together areas that share common socio-
economic characteristics and local services. The southern areas being 
added to the ward are naturally aligned with Rock Hill’s existing 
community ties, utilizing the same transport routes and amenities 
such as local schools and shopping areas. The northern areas moved 
to Charford ward are better suited to that ward, ensuring that 
community identity is maintained across both wards. 
The changes have been carefully considered to avoid disrupting the 
long-standing community connections within Rock Hill, ensuring that 
the ward remains centred around its core neighbourhoods while 
making necessary adjustments for electoral equality. 
 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

The current ward member for Rock Hill provided the following 
comment.  
'My main concern is the removal of the 'Rock Hill' estate from Rock 
Hill ward. Surely it makes more sense to merge Charford ward 
together with 'South Charford' (currently part of Rock Hill) and keep 
the Rock Hill estate within the ward.’ 
 

Working Group Comments  The working group carefully reviewed the proposed boundary 
changes for Rock Hill ward and acknowledged that while the 
electorate remains slightly below the district average with a variance 
of -8.24%, the changes ensure greater overall electoral equality and 
maintain the ward’s distinct community identity. 
The group discussed the option of transferring more properties from 
Avoncroft or Charford into Rock Hill to increase the electorate. 
However, it was agreed that this could undermine the identity of the 
ward, particularly as the areas under consideration for inclusion have 
stronger ties with neighbouring wards.  
The working group also took into consideration the current ward 
member’s comments. However, the group felt that Rock Hill was 
created due to the name of a road and felt that electors within the 
ward often considered themselves, Charford or Stoke Heath. By 
moving Breakback Road, Foxwalks Avenue, and Whitford Close into 
Charford Ward, the working group ensured that those areas, which 
share common characteristics with Charford, are better represented. 
The decision to include areas to the south, such as Dark Lane and The 
Furrows, strengthens the ward’s boundary and enhances cohesion 
within Rock Hill without disrupting existing community relationships, 
whilst taking into account the surplus electorate in Avoncroft. The 
group concluded that the proposal offers the best balance between 
maintaining community cohesion and achieving electoral fairness. 
However, the working group also felt that a potential name change 
for this ward may be appropriate and decided to come back to this at 
the next meeting of the Electoral Matters Committee.  
 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
48 

 

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
49 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
50 

 

5.10 Avoncroft  

Section  Current Ward Name: Avoncroft  Proposed Ward Name: Avoncroft  

Socio-Economic Profile9 Age Distribution: Avoncroft has a relatively diverse age profile, with a 
notable proportion of working-age adults (30-50 years) and a 
significant number of retirees. Around 23% of the population is aged 
65 or older, reflecting its appeal to both families and older residents 
seeking a quieter, suburban lifestyle. 
Housing: The ward consists primarily of detached and semi-detached 
homes, with high levels of owner-occupancy. Housing in Avoncroft 
tends to be more expensive than in other parts of Bromsgrove due to 
its suburban and rural appeal, with many larger properties and ample 
green spaces. 
Employment: A significant portion of Avoncroft’s residents work in 
professional, managerial, and administrative roles. The employment 
sectors include professional services, education, healthcare, and 
retail. 
Income: Household incomes in Avoncroft are typically higher than the 
national average, reflecting the professional occupations of many 
residents. The area attracts middle- to higher-income families and 
professionals. 
Education: Avoncroft enjoys relatively high levels of educational 
attainment, with many residents holding university degrees or 
professional qualifications. The presence of well-regarded local 
schools enhances the ward's appeal for families. 
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, though it is seeing 
some gradual increase in diversity, in line with broader regional 
trends. 
Health: Residents in Avoncroft report generally good health, with a 
high proportion of the population describing their health as either 
good or very good.  
Transport: Avoncroft is well-connected, with good access to the A38 
and nearby M5 motorway, making it an attractive area for 
commuters. Public transport links include local bus services, though 
car ownership is high due to the rural nature of the area. 
Crime: Crime rates in Avoncroft are relatively low, consistent with the 
broader Bromsgrove district.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Avoncroft: 3291 Avoncroft: 2927  

Details of any large development 
within the area  

There is a development planned in the Avoncroft ward on the 
former Polymer Latex Site. This will bring an estimated 342 
additional electors into the ward by 2030.  

Number of Councillors  
Avoncroft: 1 Avoncroft: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Avoncroft: 23.01% Avoncroft: 8.74% 

                                                           
9 Based on the 2021 Census Data  

Page 72

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
51 

 

Boundary Description  
 The Avoncroft ward sits to the 
South of Bromsgrove District 
and covers the Stoke Prior, Stoke 
Pound and Stoke Wharf areas. 
Currently the boundary to the 
North goes in to the Stoke Heath 
area, crossing along Wheatridge 
Road and along Harvest Close, 
including Harrow Close before 
joining the Redditch Road.  

Due to the size of the existing 
ward, the boundary in the Stoke 
Heath area of the ward has been 
reduced, carrying on further down 
the Worcester Road and on to the 
Hanbury Road before joining the 
Redditch Road. This means that 
part of Hanbury Road, Dark Lane, 
Ploughmans Walk, The Furrows 
and Cornfield Avenue have been 
moved out of the ward, and into 
the Rock Hill ward.  

Rationale for New Boundary  The boundary changes for Avoncroft ward aim to address its 
significant electoral variance of 23.01%, which is above the tolerance 
set by the LGBCE. The northern boundary in the Stoke Heath area has 
been reduced, with sections such as Hanbury Road, Dark Lane, 
Ploughmans Walk, The Furrows, and Cornfield Avenue moved out of 
the ward. This adjustment brings the electoral variance down to 
8.74%, ensuring fairer representation while maintaining a logical and 
geographically consistent boundary. 
The new boundary continues to reflect natural geographic features 
and established communities within Stoke Prior, Stoke Pound, and 
Stoke Wharf. By making these changes, the ward will better align with 
the population distribution and provide more equitable 
representation in local governance. 
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The parish ward boundaries for Stoke Heath and Stoke Prior will need 
to be amended to reflect the change in the ward boundary. There 
would not be any change to the Stoke parish boundary. 

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary changes for Avoncroft ward will significantly 
improve electoral equality, reducing the current variance from 23.01% 
to 8.74%, ensuring fairer representation for all residents. The 
adjustment removes areas that are more closely associated with 
Stoke Heath and Hanbury, helping to balance the electorate across 
neighbouring wards. 
The changes will not negatively impact community services or 
relationships, as residents in the newly excluded areas will continue 
to access similar local amenities and transport links. This revised 
boundary ensures that Avoncroft remains an effective, manageable 
ward with representation that matches its electorate size, supporting 
effective governance and service delivery. 
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The boundary changes have been carefully considered to preserve 
the community identity within Avoncroft. The ward covers areas with 
a shared identity around Stoke Prior, Stoke Pound, and Stoke Wharf, 
which maintain strong ties through common local amenities, schools, 
and historical connections. These areas remain connected through 
shared use of local facilities and transport infrastructure, fostering a 
sense of cohesion. 
By adjusting the northern boundary to remove parts of Stoke Heath, 
the new ward pattern ensures that these areas are grouped with 

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
52 

 

communities that better reflect their interests. The changes do not 
disrupt existing relationships within the core of Avoncroft, 
maintaining the ward's identity as a largely residential and semi-rural 
community, with high levels of home ownership and strong ties to the 
local countryside. 
 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments were received from the current ward member when 
consulted.   

Working Group Comments  The working group acknowledged that, despite the proposed 
changes, the electorate in Avoncroft ward remains slightly high, with 
a variance of 8.74%. However, after careful consideration, the group 
felt that moving additional properties into the neighbouring Rock Hill 
ward could risk undermining the distinct identity of Avoncroft. 
The working group concluded that maintaining these community ties 
was more important than further reducing the electorate variance. 
Therefore, no additional adjustments to the boundary were 
recommended, as it was felt that the current proposal offers the best 
balance between electoral equality and preserving the ward's 
identity. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
53 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
54 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
55 

 

5.11 Lowes Hill  

Section  Current Ward Name: Lowes Hill    Proposed Ward Name: Lowes Hill     

Socio-Economic Ward Profile10  Age Distribution: The population includes a significant number of 
working-age adults (25-60 years) and a growing number of young 
families. Around 15% of residents are aged 65 or older, reflecting 
a balanced age demographic that appeals to both younger and 
older households. 
Housing: The housing stock in Lowes Hill consists mainly of semi-
detached and detached homes, with a mix of owner-occupied 
and rental properties. Housing costs in the ward are moderate, 
making it attractive to both middle-income families and first-time 
buyers. There are newer housing developments alongside more 
established homes, offering a variety of living options. 
Employment: Many residents of Lowes Hill commute to nearby 
towns and cities like Bromsgrove, Redditch, and Birmingham for 
work. The most common employment sectors include 
professional services, retail, healthcare, and education. There is 
also a presence of skilled trade and manual workers, reflecting a 
diverse economic base. 
Income: Household incomes in Lowes Hill are around the national 
median, with a mix of professional and skilled manual 
occupations. The area is home to both middle-class families and 
working-class residents, contributing to a balanced socio-
economic profile. 
Education: Educational attainment in Lowes Hill is varied, with a 
mix of residents holding vocational qualifications and higher 
education degrees.  
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, but there has 
been a gradual increase in diversity over the past decade, 
reflecting wider national trends in Bromsgrove. 
Health: Health outcomes in Lowes Hill are generally good, with a 
majority of residents reporting good or very good health. Access 
to healthcare services is strong, with nearby Bromsgrove town 
providing local clinics, hospitals, and specialist care. 
Transport: Lowes Hill is well-connected, with good access to the 
A38 and M5 motorway, making it a convenient area for 
commuters. Public transport options are available, including bus 
routes into Bromsgrove town centre and nearby train stations 
with links to Birmingham and Worcester. 
Crime: Crime rates in Lowes Hill are low, consistent with its 
suburban nature.  

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Lowes Hill: 2678 Lowes Hill: 2736 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

                                                           
10 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
56 

 

Number of Councillors  
Lowes Hill: 1 Lowes Hill: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Lowes Hill: 0.10% Lowes Hill: 1.88% 

Boundary Description  The current Lowes Hill boundary 
runs along the M42 to the North 
and the Stourbridge Road to the 
West. To the East, the boundary 
starts on the M42 and moves to 
the West of the Birmingham 
Road and the South of Barnsley 
Hall Drive. It then incorporates 
Green Bower Drive and Reed 
Mace Drive before heading  
South alongside Pennine Road. 
Continuing to the East, the 
boundary follows alongside and 
incorporates the Princess of 
Wales Community Hospital 
before including Walton Grove 
and Oakland Grove. After 
Following Burcot Avenue, the 
boundary joins Burcot Lane and 
then the A38. At the South, the 
boundary incorporates the 
Birmingham Road and 
surrounding streets, such as 
Shenstone Close and Blackmore 
Lane.  From the Birmingham 
Road, the boundary currently 
rejoins the Stourbridge Road.  

The Boundary to the South has 
been extended across the 
Stourbridge Road and on to  
Market Street, before moving 
along Recreation Road. This taken 
in Bryson Place, Bilberry Place, 
Chandler Court, Parkside Court 
and Mitre Court. The boundary 
change follows along the south of 
Meadows First School before 
joining back on to the Stourbridge 
Road. On the East of Lowes Hill 88 
– 98 Elm Grove have been moved 
into the Norton ward to fix a 
boundary anomaly and meaning 
that all of Elm Grove is now within 
the Norton ward. Walton Road has 
also been moved into the Norton 
ward, Including 171-199 
Birmingham Road.  

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

The proposed boundary changes for Lowes Hill ward aim to correct a 
boundary anomaly while ensuring electoral balance and maintaining 
community cohesion. The key change involves extending the 
boundary to the south to include areas along Market Street, 
Recreation Road, and Parkside Court, which align more closely with 
the socio-economic characteristics of Lowes Hill. This adjustment 
helps to balance the electorate and ensures that all residents in these 
areas are adequately represented. 
Additionally, properties at 88-98 Elm Grove have been moved to the 
Norton ward to rectify a historical boundary inconsistency, ensuring 
that the entire street is within one ward. Walton Road has also been 
moved out of the ward to make a more effective geographical 
boundary. These changes provide more logical and geographically 
coherent boundaries.  
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Page 78

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
57 

 

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary adjustments for Lowes Hill are expected to 
have a positive impact on electoral representation. By incorporating 
areas to the south, the ward achieves an electoral variance of 1.88%. 
The changes ensure that residents in the newly included areas along 
Market Street and Recreation Road will now be part of a cohesive 
ward that shares similar socio-economic characteristics. The shift of 
properties from Elm Grove to Norton ward resolves a boundary issue 
without disrupting existing community ties, and the inclusion of 
Walton Road and surrounding properties in Norton ward ensures 
better alignment with local services and amenities. 
These changes are not anticipated to negatively affect the provision 
of services or community relationships within the ward.  
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The adjustment of Elm Grove to the Norton ward aligns with 
community identity by ensuring that residents of this street are 
grouped with their natural community in Norton. This corrects a 
historical anomaly and supports a more logical division between the 
two wards. Overall, the proposed changes reinforce the existing 
identity of Lowes Hill as a balanced, residential area with strong 
connections to local amenities and shared community spaces. 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

The current ward member for Lowes Hill was part of the ward 
patterning working group and suggested / supported the proposed 
changes, some of which were made by the member for the Norton 
ward.  

Working Group Comments  The working group discussed the proposed changes and agreed to the 
changes proposed by ward members for Lowes Hill and Norton.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
58 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
59 

 

Map 2 Elm Grove Boundary Amendment   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
60 

 

Map 3 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

Page 82

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
61 

 

 

5.12 Norton and Lickey End  

Section  Current Ward Name: Norton    Proposed Ward Name: Norton 
and Lickey End      

Socio-Economic Ward Profile11  Age Distribution: Norton has a diverse age profile, with a large 
proportion of working-age adults (30-60 years) and a notable number 
of older residents aged 65 and above. The family-friendly 
environment attracts younger families, while established residents 
contribute to a strong community base. 
Housing: The housing stock in Norton is primarily detached and semi-
detached homes, with some terraced housing closer to the town 
centre. Properties in Norton tend to be owner-occupied, and house 
prices are moderate to high due to its desirable location and 
proximity to green spaces. The mix of housing styles and sizes makes 
it appealing to both middle-income families and professionals. 
Employment: Common employment sectors include professional 
services, healthcare, education, and retail, reflecting the ward's 
diverse economic base. There is also a notable presence of self-
employed individuals and small business owners in the area. 
Income: Household incomes in Norton are slightly above the national 
average, with a mix of middle-class professionals and skilled workers. 
The relatively affluent population reflects Norton’s appeal as a 
residential area within commuting distance of larger employment 
hubs. 
Education: Educational attainment in Norton is high, with a 
substantial proportion of residents holding university degrees or 
professional qualifications.  
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, though there is a 
gradual increase in diversity as younger families and professionals 
move into the area, reflecting broader regional trends. 
Health: Health outcomes in Norton are above average, with most 
residents reporting good or very good health.  
Transport: Norton is well-connected, with good access to the A38 and 
M5 motorway, facilitating commutes to Birmingham and Worcester. 
Public transportation options include bus services to Bromsgrove 
town centre, and the nearby Bromsgrove railway station. 
Crime: Norton enjoys low crime rates, consistent with its suburban 
character and family-friendly environment. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Norton: 2688 Norton and Lickey End: 2772 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Norton: 1 Norton and Lickey End: 1 

                                                           
11 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
62 

 

Electoral Variance  
Norton: 0.47% Norton and Lickey End: 3.18% 

Boundary Description  The Norton boundary follows 
the M42 to the North moving 
down Little Heath Lane to the 
East before following Lower 
Shepley Lane, including Astwood 
Cottage. The boundary then 
follows the Alcester Road, 
before moving along Old Burcot 
Lane to the South. The boundary 
then joins the A38 briefly, before 
moving onto Burcot Lane, 
cutting through to the North of 
Burcot Avenue. The boundary 
heads up Birmingham Road to 
the North of Walton Road, 
before heading back down to 
the South of Elm Grove. The 
boundary cuts through Elm 
Grove and on to the South of 
Princethorpe Street, before 
joining a footpath North. The 
boundary then follows along 
land to the South of Barnsley 
Hall Drive, before joining the 
A38 and M42.   

88 – 98 Elm Grove have been 
moved into the Norton ward to fix 
a boundary anomaly and meaning 
that all of Elm Grove is now within 
the Norton ward. Walton Road has 
also been moved into the Norton 
ward, Including 171-199 
Birmingham Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

Properties at 88-98 Elm Grove have been moved to the Norton ward 
to rectify a historical boundary inconsistency, ensuring that the entire 
street is within one ward. Walton Road has also been moved into the 
ward to make a more effective geographical boundary. These changes 
provide more logical and geographically coherent boundaries.  
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  None  

Impact Assessment  The shift of properties from Elm Grove to Norton ward resolves a 
boundary issue without disrupting existing community ties, and the 
inclusion of Walton Road and surrounding properties in Norton ward 
ensures better alignment with local services and amenities. 
These changes are not anticipated to negatively affect the provision 
of services or community relationships within the ward.  
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The adjustment of Elm Grove to the Norton ward aligns with 
community identity by ensuring that residents of this street are 
grouped with their natural community in Norton. This corrects a 
historical anomaly and supports a more logical division between the 
two wards.  

Page 84

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
63 

 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

The ward member for Norton ward provided the following comment:  
“I would the recommend the following minor changes: 
 

 the six bungalows on Elm Grove circled below are moved 
from Lowes Hill to Norton as they face into Norton Ward and 
are part of the Elm Grove estate, the rest of which is all 
contained within Norton ward. 

 I also think it would make sense to rationalise the 
arrangement with Barnsley Road and Walton Road and either 
put the entire cul de sac in Norton or Lowes Hill. I don’t mind 
which, I just think the current boundary in the middle of the 
cul de sac doesn’t make a lot of practical sense.  

 
Finally, is it possible to change the name of the ward to ‘Norton and 
Lickey End’ to better reflect the identity of the settlements and 
communities it contains?” 
 

Working Group Comments  The working group discussed the changes proposed by the ward 
member for Norton and agreed to put them forward in the council’s 
proposal, including the change of name for the ward.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
64 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
65 

 

Map 2 Elm Grove Boundary Amendment   

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
66 

 

Map 3 Proposed Ward Boundaries

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
67 

 

5.13 Cofton  

Section  Current Ward Name: Cofton   Proposed Ward Name: Cofton     

Socio-Economic Ward Profile12  Age Distribution: Cofton has a relatively balanced population, with a 
significant number of working-age adults (30-50 years) and a growing 
proportion of younger families moving into the area due to new 
housing. Around 16% of residents are aged 65 or older, but the area is 
attracting younger demographics as well. 
Housing: The ward consists of a mix of newly built homes and older, 
established housing, including semi-detached, detached, and some 
terraced homes. There is a growing proportion of owner-occupied 
homes, particularly in new developments. House prices are 
moderate, with some areas being more affordable than neighbouring 
wards like Barnt Green. 
Employment: Residents in Cofton are typically employed in 
professional, administrative, and technical roles.  
Income: Household incomes in Cofton vary, reflecting its mixed 
demographic. While newer developments tend to attract middle-
income families, the ward also has a section of working-class 
households. The overall income levels are around the national 
median. 
Education: Educational attainment is relatively high, with many 
holding higher education qualifications.  
Ethnicity: Cofton is predominantly White British, but with a growing 
diversity as the area develops and attracts residents.  
Health: Health outcomes in Cofton are generally good, The area has a 
moderate proportion of residents managing long-term health 
conditions. 
Transport: Cofton is well-connected, particularly with easy access to 
the A38 and M5 motorway, making it a popular choice for commuters 
to Birmingham and Worcester.  
Crime: Crime rates in Cofton are low to moderate, in line with other 
suburban areas in Bromsgrove.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Cofton: 2738 Cofton: 2550 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Cofton: 1 Cofton: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Cofton: 2.34% Cofton: -4.83% 

                                                           
12 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
68 

 

Boundary Description  The boundary to the North of 
Cofton runs along the 
authority’s border with 
Birmingham, on Groveley Lane, 
before veering off to the fields 
on the outskirts of Nuthurst 
Road. The boundary joins 
Longbridge Lane in the 
Northeast, before following 
down through the Farmland to 
the Left of Birmingham Road. 
The boundary joins the railway 
line to the South of the ward 
and joins Kendall End Road. The 
Boundary then cuts off through 
fields to the west of Barnt green 
Road. The boundary joins 
Warren Lane before 
incorporating Twatling Road and 
Lickey Square, before joining the 
Old Birmingham Road.  

The boundary in the West of the 
ward has been moved Northward, 
taking High House Drive, Old 
Birmingham Road and Malvern 
Road into the Lickey Hills ward. 
The boundary then runs along 
Monument Lane before joining 
Warren Lane.  

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

The boundary move provides for a more equal electorate between 
the Cofton and Lickey Hills ward.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The Lickey & Blackwell parish ward boundary between the Lickey and 
Lickey Monument wards+ would need to be adjusted to reflect the 
changes in the district ward boundary. 

Impact Assessment  The changes are not thought to have any negative impact. Whilst the 
electorate falls into a deficit in Cofton, there is better electoral 
equality amongst the Lickey Hills and Cofton wards.  

Community Identity 
Considerations  

There are not thought to be any negative impacts on community 
identity. The area which is being moved out of Cofton and into Lickey 
Hills is the Lickey Hills Primary School and surrounding properties, 
meaning that there are community ties to the Lickey Hills ward.  

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments provided by ward member when consulted.    

Working Group Comments  The working group agreed the proposed changes.   

 

 

 

Page 90

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
69 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

Map 2 Proposed Boundary Change  

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
70 

 

Map 3 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

  

Page 92

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
71 

 

5.14 Lickey Hills  

Section  Current Ward Name: Lickey Hills  Proposed Ward Name: Lickey Hills    

Socio-Economic Ward Profile13  Age Distribution: The population includes a significant number of 
residents aged 50 and older, with around 27.5% of the population 
aged 65 or above, reflecting its appeal to retirees and those seeking a 
quieter, scenic lifestyle. 
Housing: The housing in Lickey Hills is predominantly detached and 
semi-detached homes, reflecting its suburban and semi-rural 
character. There is a high level of owner-occupancy, with house prices 
above the national average, reflecting the ward’s desirability due to 
its proximity to green spaces and its scenic setting near the Lickey 
Hills Country Park. 
Employment: Residents are typically employed in professional, 
managerial, and administrative roles, with many commuting to 
nearby cities like Birmingham for work. The employment sectors 
include finance, education, healthcare, and professional services. 
Income: Household incomes in Lickey Hills are higher than the 
national average, given the prevalence of professional and managerial 
occupations. It is a largely affluent area. 
Education: The ward has high levels of educational attainment, with 
many residents holding university degrees or other higher 
qualifications. Local schools are well-regarded, adding to the ward’s 
appeal for families. 
Ethnicity: The area is predominantly White British, with gradual 
diversification reflecting broader trends across Bromsgrove. 
Health: Lickey Hills enjoys generally good health outcomes, with a 
high proportion of residents reporting good or very good health. The 
ward benefits from its access to outdoor spaces, including the Lickey 
Hills Country Park, which supports healthy living. 
Transport: The ward is well-connected by road, with easy access to 
the M5 and M42 motorways, making it a popular location for 
commuters.  
Crime: Crime rates in Lickey Hills are low, making it one of the safer 
areas in Bromsgrove. The ward’s suburban and semi-rural character 
contributes to its strong sense of safety and community. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Lickey Hills: 2380 Lickey Hills: 2653 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Lickey Hills: 1 Lickey Hills: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Lickey Hills: -11.04% Lickey Hills: -1.11% 

                                                           
13 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 93

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
72 

 

Boundary Description  The current boundary follows 
Pine Grove, Woodshill Avenue, 
Lickey Square and Twatling Road 
to the North. Following through 
the Lickey Hills Country Park and 
joining Cherry Hill Road to the 
East, before crossing down to 
follow the railway line where the 
M42 crosses, incorporating 
Linthurst Road. At the South the 
boundary joins the Alcester 
Road and onto Lower Shepley 
Lane to the West, before joining 
Little Hurst Lane.  

The boundary has been moved at 
the North of the ward to add 
properties on Old Birmingham 
Road, High House Drive and 
Malvern Road. The Lickey Hills 
Primary School has also been 
added into the ward as a result of 
the boundary move.  

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

The current Lickey Hills ward has an elector deficit of -11.04%, which 
is outside of the LGBCE’s tolerance. The Old Birmingham Road forms 
part of the Lickey community and those within the Licky Hills ward 
would make use of facilities moving into the ward, such as the Lickey 
Hills Primary School.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The Lickey and Blackwell parish ward boundary between the Lickey 
and Lickey Monument wards would need to be adjusted to reflect the 
changes in the district ward boundary.  

Impact Assessment  The proposed boundary adjustments for Lickey Hills ward reduce the 
electoral variance from -11.04% to -1.11%, bringing it within the 
LGBCE’s tolerance and ensuring fairer representation. By 
incorporating areas along Old Birmingham Road, High House Drive, 
Malvern Road, and Lickey Hills Primary School, the boundary aligns 
more closely with the local population distribution while adding 
facilities commonly used by residents of Lickey Hills. 
These adjustments strengthen representation by bringing in new 
residents who share common socio-economic characteristics with the 
existing ward population. With no significant developments 
anticipated in the area, this boundary change balances the electorate 
while preserving the ward’s core suburban and semi-rural character. 
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The proposed boundary provides fairer electoral equality as well as 
community cohesion, by uniting properties along Old Birmingham 
Road and nearby areas, which form part of the Lickey community. 
Residents in these areas frequently use shared facilities, fostering a 
common identity cantered on local amenities and green spaces. 
The inclusion of nearby properties strengthens community identity by 
grouping residents who share similar access to local services. This 
adjustment supports the ward’s established identity, ensuring that 
Lickey Hills remains a cohesive, well-defined community. 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

No comments provided by the ward member when consulted.    

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
73 

 

Working Group Comments  The working group reviewed the proposed boundary changes for 
Lickey Hills ward and expressed agreement with the adjustments. 
Members recognised that including properties along Old Birmingham 
Road, High House Drive, Malvern Road, and Lickey Hills Primary 
School would improve electoral equality and better reflect the natural 
community boundaries.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
74 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
75 

 

Map 2 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

 

 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
76 

 

5.15 Alvechurch South  

Section  Current Ward Names:  
Alvechurch South  

Proposed Ward Names:  
Alvechurch South      

Socio-Economic Ward Profile14  Age Distribution: The population has a significant proportion of 
working-age adults (30-60 years) and older adults aged 65 and over, 
with around 25% of the population being retirees. The area appeals 
to families, but also attracts older residents due to its peaceful, rural 
environment. 
Housing: Alvechurch South is characterized by a mix of detached and 
semi-detached homes, most of which are owner-occupied. Housing in 
the ward is relatively more expensive compared to neighbouring 
areas, reflecting its desirability as a suburban location. The area is 
known for its larger properties and green spaces, which contribute to 
its rural appeal. 
Employment: Many residents commute to nearby urban centres like 
Birmingham and Redditch for work. Common employment sectors 
include professional services, finance, healthcare, and education. The 
ward also has a proportion of residents working in skilled trades and 
manual jobs. 
Income: Household incomes in Alvechurch South tend to be above 
the national average, reflecting its middle- to higher-income 
demographic. The area is home to professionals and families with 
stable financial backgrounds. 
Education: Educational attainment in the ward is relatively high, with 
many residents holding university degrees or professional 
qualifications. Children within Alvechurch often attend schools in the 
wider Bromsgrove area.  
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, though there has 
been some gradual increase in diversity over the years, reflecting 
broader trends in Bromsgrove. 
Health: Health outcomes in Alvechurch South are generally above 
average, with many residents reporting good or very good health.  
Transport: Alvechurch South is well-connected by road, with easy 
access to the M42 motorway, making it a convenient location for 
commuters. Alvechurch railway station provides links to Birmingham 
and Redditch, and public transport is accessible via bus routes. 
Crime: Crime rates in the ward are relatively low, contributing to its 
appeal as a safe, family-friendly area.  
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Alvechurch South: 2475 Alvechurch South: 2529 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Alvechurch South: 1 Alvechurch South: 1 

                                                           
14 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 98

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
77 

 

Electoral Variance  
Alvechurch South: -7.49% Alvechurch South: -5.48% 

Boundary Description  The Alvechurch South boundary 
follows the M42 to the North, before 
heading up land towards Watery 
Lane, turning east to follow the lane 
to the south. The boundary then 
turns on to the Alcester Road to 
make up the Eastern boundary of the 
ward, incorporating part of Beoley 
Lane. To the South, the boundary 
briefly joins the Coventry Highway 
before running to the North of 
Ravens Bank Drive. The boundary 
moves up Icknield Street and onto 
Dagnell End Road. The boundary to 
the West follows the River Arrow 
before joining Scarfield Hill, where it 
meets the boundary for Alvechurch 
Village. At the North of the ward, the 
boundary falls to the South of 
Wythybed Lane, before joining the 
railway line and then running to the 
North of Latimer Road. It runs South 
along Snake Lane, before moving 
along Bear Hill. The boundary then 
moves up Red Lion Street, turning off 
to the South of Meadow lane before 
following the River Arrow to Old  
Rectory Lane, before joining the 
A441.  

The boundary has been 
extended on Bear Hill to 
incorporate properties to the 
North of Bear Hill and St 
Lawrence Close. It has also 
moved on to Radford Road 
moving properties to the 
North of the road into the 
Alvechurch Village ward.   

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

The proposed boundary adjustments for Alvechurch South were 
made to ensure better electoral equality while maintaining the ward’s 
community ties. Changes, such as incorporating properties along Bear 
Hill and St Lawrence Close, were introduced to create a smoother 
boundary and maintain strong connections with neighbouring areas. 
Additionally, properties north of Radford Road were moved into 
Alvechurch Village ward to ensure a more logical boundary line and 
better represent the interests of residents in those areas. 
The wider boundary of Alvechurch South was left intact, as altering it 
would have a negative impact on the community’s identity and 
cohesion. The electorate, currently underrepresented by a small 
margin, provides flexibility for future development within the area, 
ensuring the ward remains balanced.  
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The Alvechurch Parish ward boundaries of Alvechurch Village and 
Rowney Green and Bordesley would need to be amended to reflect 
the changes to the district wards. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
78 

 

Impact Assessment  The boundary adjustments bring Alvechurch South within the 
acceptable LGBCE tolerance, reducing the electoral variance from -
7.49% to -5.48%. This ensures fairer representation while allowing 
room for some future growth in the near term.  
By including properties along Bear Hill and St Lawrence Close, the 
adjustments ensure that residents continue to be represented in a 
cohesive and logical way. Moving properties north of Radford Road to 
Alvechurch Village ward helps improve boundary clarity. These 
changes ensure that residents receive effective representation 
without disrupting local services or community relationships. 
 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

The Alvechurch South Ward has a distinct community identity, 
characterised by its mix of semi-rural and suburban environments, 
with strong ties to Alvechurch Village and surrounding areas. The 
changes made, particularly along Bear Hill, reinforce this identity by 
aligning the boundaries with natural geographic features and the 
established community. 
The decision not to alter the wider Alvechurch boundary ensures that 
the ward’s historic identity remains intact. Expanding beyond these 
limits would dilute the community cohesion that has developed over 
time. The changes made to the southern and northern boundaries 
are in line with maintaining the integrity of the ward, ensuring that 
Alvechurch South remains a well-connected and identifiable 
community. 
 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

Officers met with ward member, Cllr A Bailes to discuss the proposed 
changes. The suggestions for the proposed changes were made by 
both Alvechurch members. Both ward members did comment that 
they expect much wider development within the Alvechurch wards in 
the future, but at present there is no quantifiable development 
planned.  

Working Group Comments  The working group agreed on the proposal, which was created by 
officers in collaboration with the ward members for Alvechurch.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
79 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

Map 2 Proposed Boundary Change  

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
80 

 

Map 3 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

  

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
81 

 

5.16 Alvechurch Village  

Section  Current Ward Name: 
Alvechurch Village   

Proposed Ward Name: 
Alvechurch Village    

Socio-Economic Ward Profile15  Age Distribution: The ward has a balanced age profile, with a notable 
percentage of working-age adults and a growing number of young 
families. Around 24% of the population is aged 65 or older, making it 
appealing to both older adults and younger families alike. 
Housing: The housing in Alvechurch Village is primarily semi-detached 
and detached homes, with a good portion of terraced houses near 
the village centre. The majority of homes are owner-occupied, though 
there is a mix of rental properties. House prices are moderate to high, 
depending on proximity to the village centre and transport links. 
Employment: The ward benefits from its proximity to larger urban 
centres like Birmingham and Redditch, with many residents working 
in professional, managerial, or administrative roles. Retail, healthcare, 
and education are also significant employment sectors, along with 
some small local businesses within the village. 
Income: Household incomes in Alvechurch Village are slightly above 
the national median, reflecting a mix of professional and skilled 
occupations. The village’s proximity to Birmingham makes it a 
desirable location for commuters. 
Education: Most Alvechurch pupils go to school in other areas of 
Bromsgrove, often requiring transport to other areas within the wider 
Bromsgrove area.  
Ethnicity: The ward is predominantly White British, though diversity 
has been slowly increasing in recent years as the village attracts new 
residents from urban areas. 
Health: Health outcomes are generally strong, with most residents 
reporting good health. The ward is close to healthcare services, and 
the village’s quieter environment supports healthy lifestyles. 
Transport: Alvechurch Village is well-served by Alvechurch railway 
station, which provides easy access to Birmingham and Redditch. The 
ward also has good road links to the M42 motorway, making it a 
convenient location for commuters. Public transport, including bus 
services, is readily available. 
Crime: Crime rates in Alvechurch Village are low. 
 

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Alvechurch Village: 2373 Alvechurch Village: 2419 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  
Alvechurch Village: 1 Alvechurch Village: 1 

Electoral Variance  
Alvechurch Village: -11.30% Alvechurch Village: -9.58% 

                                                           
15 Based on 2021 Census data  

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
82 

 

Boundary Description  The current Alvechurch South 
boundary is situated to the 
North of Foxhill Barns on Foxhill 
Lane to the West. It runs along 
the M42 to the North. To the 
East, it runs along the A441, 
before joining Radford Road. It 
includes properties on Radford 
Road, such a Little Oaks and the 
Lightwoods before following the 
River Arrow, joining Red Lion 
Street then onto Bear Hill. The 
boundary then moves up onto 
Snake Lane before moving to the 
North of Latimer Road and 
Dellow Grove, joining the 
railway line. The boundary then 
moves through land to the 
North of Scarfield Hill, 
incorporating Foxhall Barns. 

The Alvechurch Village boundary 
has been extended on to the 
Radford Road to incorporate the 
village square as well as properties 
to the north of Radford Road. On 
Bear Hill Road, the boundary has 
been taken up to move properties 
on Bear Hill and St Laurence Close 
into the Alvechurch South ward.   

Rationale for Proposed 
Boundary  

The proposed boundary changes for Alvechurch Village were made to 
improve electoral equality and ensure the boundaries reflect natural 
community divisions. Working closely with ward members, sensible 
adjustments were introduced, such as moving The Square into 
Alvechurch Village ward and refining the boundaries along Bear Hill to 
create a smoother, more logical division that better reflects the 
communities within. 
It was deemed inappropriate to alter the wider Alvechurch boundary, 
as this would have a negative impact on the community’s identity. 
Preserving the core of Alvechurch was essential to maintaining 
cohesion. The slight electorate shortfall in the ward provides flexibility 
for any future development within the area in the near term, 
ensuring the ward can accommodate growth without exceeding 
electoral limits. These adjustments also bring the variance within the 
LGBCE’s tolerance of +/-10%, achieving a variance of -9.58%. 
 

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The Alvechurch Parish ward boundaries of Alvechurch Village and 
Rowney Green & Bordesley would need to be amended to reflect the 
changes to the district wards. 

Impact Assessment The boundary changes to Alvechurch Village reduce the electoral 
variance from -11.30% to -9.58%, bringing it within the LGBCE’s 
tolerance of +/-10%. This ensures that the ward remains well-
balanced while allowing room for future housing developments 
without disrupting electoral fairness. 
The inclusion of properties from The Square ensures the population 
reflects the natural community makeup of Alvechurch Village, while 
the movement of properties along Bear Hill into Alvechurch South 
creates a more appropriate boundary that benefits both wards. The 
adjustments ensure that residents in both areas receive effective and 
equitable representation. It is not envisaged that there will be any 
negative impact as a result of the proposed changes.  

Page 104

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
83 

 

Community Identity 
Considerations  

Alvechurch Village is located around the historic village, with a strong 
sense of community identity that remains integral to the ward’s 
character. The changes, such as including The Square, reinforce this 
identity by aligning the ward with natural geographic divisions. 
The decision not to alter the wider Alvechurch boundary was critical 
to preserving the village’s unique identity. Expanding beyond the 
existing boundaries was not believed to be appropriate in order to 
secure further electoral equality. By making targeted, sensible 
changes, the ward remains cohesive and continues to reflect the 
close-knit community of Alvechurch, while also ensuring the most 
appropriate ward pattern for both Alvechurch wards. 
 

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

Officers met with the ward member, Cllr R Bailes to discuss proposals 
for the ward, resulting in the proposed changes. Both ward members 
for Alvechurch did comment that they expect much wider 
development within the Alvechurch wards in the future, but at 
present there is no quantifiable development planned.  

Working Group Comments  The working group agreed on the proposal, which was created by 
officers in collaboration with the ward members for Alvechurch.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
84 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Current Ward Boundaries  

 

Map 2 Proposed Boundary Change  

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
85 

 

Map 3 Proposed Ward Boundaries  

 

  

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
86 

 

5.17 Wythall East & Wythall West – A small boundary amendment is proposed between the 

current Wythall East & Wythall West ward boundaries. 

Section  Current Ward Name: Wythall 
East & Wythall West  

Proposed Ward Name: Wythall 
East & Wythall West    

Projected Electorate (5 years) Current Ward Proposed Ward 

Wythall East: 2598 
Wythall West: 2421  

Wythall East: 2566 
Wythall West: 2453 

Details of any large development 
within the area  None  

Number of Councillors  Wythall East: 1 
Wythall West: 1 

Wythall East: 1 
Wythall West: 1 

Electoral Variance  Wythall East: -2.98% 
Wythall West: -9.51% 

Wythall East: -4.25% 
Wythall West: -8.35% 

Proposed Boundary Amendment  A small Boundary amendment is proposed on Burnham Road to 
correct a boundary anomaly which moves through properties on 
Burnham Road, the boundary moves 32 electors form the Wythall 
West ward into the Wythall East ward and provides a more coherent 
boundary as well as slightly improving the electoral variance.  

Parish Boundaries (Impact on)  The boundary between the Wythall Health ward and the Grimes Hill 
ward of Wythall Parish will need to be amended to reflect the 
changes to the district ward boundaries.  

Consultation Feedback (Current 
Ward Member)  

The ward member for Wythall West suggested the amendment to 
create a more coherent boundary.     

Working Group Comments  The working group agreed the proposed changes and noted it 
corrects a boundary anomaly and improves electoral parity within the 
two wards.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
87 

 

Maps and Visual Aids  

Map 1 Proposed Boundary Change  

 

  

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



LGBCE – Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Proposal                                          November 2024 
 

 
88 

 

6. Conclusion  

6.1 In conclusion, the proposed ward pattern for Bromsgrove District Council achieves a balance 

between electoral equality, community cohesion, and effective local governance. Through 

careful adjustments, this pattern aligns with the LGBCE’s core principles, ensuring that all 

wards are within the tolerance of +/-10% electoral variance. 

 

6.2 The adjustments made address the areas of significant population growth and accommodate 

future developments, especially in wards such as Perryfields, to maintain long-term balance 

in representation. Community identity has been prioritised, with boundaries reflecting 

natural divisions and shared amenities, thus enhancing residents' access to relevant local 

services and community networks. 

 

6.3 The unaltered wards highlight areas where existing boundaries successfully meet LGBCE’s 

standards, preserving stability for those communities. The approach taken by the working 

group reflects collaboration with ward members and a comprehensive analysis of 

demographic changes and local needs, providing a robust structure for Bromsgrove District 

Council’s representation moving forward. 

 

6.4 It is therefore requested that the LGBCE accept the new ward pattern as set out in this 

document for its draft recommendations published in May 2025.  

 

 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 6


	Agenda
	4 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Electoral Matters Committee held on 3rd June 2024
	5 Polling District changes as a result of the review of Worcestershire County Divisions by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England
	Appendix 1 -Summary of proposed polling district changes.

	6 Local Government Boundary Commission for England Boundary Review for Bromsgrove - Warding Pattern Proposals
	Appendix 1 - Draft Bromsgrove District Council Ward Pattern Submission


